
 

 
Sierra County Commission 

Administration Building 
1712 N Date St, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 

Tuesday July 23rd, 2024 
 

AGENDA  
 

ALL MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC WILL BE ABLE TO WATCH AND LISTEN TO THE MEETING VIA: 
(https://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=100068317226897) (Local radio KCHS 101.9) 

 
 
Call to Order: 10:00 AM Regular Meeting 
 
Roll Call:      Travis Day-Chairman                Shelly K. Trujillo-Clerk 

        James E. Paxon-Vice-Chair   Nance, Pato & Stout, LLC-Attorney 
       Hank Hopkins -Commissioner               Amber Vaughn-County Manager 

 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
New Mexico State Flag Pledge-I salute the flag of the State of New Mexico and the Zia symbol of perfect 
friendship among united cultures. 
 

Introduction of Guests 
 

I. Approval of Agenda 
II. Approval of Minutes  

A. Regular Meeting – June 25th, 2024 
III. Public Comment: Limited to 3 Minutes  
IV. Consent Agenda: 

A. Resolution No. 110-257 Accounts Payable 
B. Resolution No. 110-258 Indigent Claims 
C. Claim of Exemption 24-005 (Covarrubias) 

V. Presentations/Reports: 
A. Years of Service Awards 
B. Department Reports 
C. Presentation Regarding Winston Speed Bumps 

VI. Board of Finance: 
A. June Reconciliation  

VII. Old Business:  
VIII. New Business: 

A. Direction to staff to publish amendment to subdivision ordinance 
IX. Contracts-Agreements-Procurement: 

A. CES- INTRAWORKS-SO- Van Patten Security-LACTF 
B. CES- ASA Architects- EOC New Building-LACTF 
C. Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) Between the Board of Regents of New Mexico State 

University/ New Mexico Department of Agriculture and the County Livestock Loss 
Authority 

D. Amendment to County Livestock Loss Authority Joint Powers Agreement 



 
E. State of New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration General Fund 93100 

Capital Appropriation Project 
F. Fiscal Agent Agreement with South Central Council of Governments 
G. Local Government Road Fund Cooperative Agreement- CAP 
H. Local Government Road Fund Cooperative Agreement- SB 
I. Local Government Road Fund Cooperative Agreement- SP 

X. Resolutions-Ordinances-Proclamations: 
A. Resolution No. 110-259 Budget Transfers 
B. Resolution No. 110-260 Fourth Quarter Financial Report 
C. Resolution No. 110-261 Final Budget for FY24-25 
D. Resolution No. 110-262 Budget Adjustments 
E. Resolution No. 110-263 Resolution Calling for a Convention of States 

XI. Executive Session (Section 10-15 E thru H): 
Pending and Threatened Litigation: 
A. , In the Matter of Sierra County Clerk, D-721-CV-2024-00087 
Personnel 
Real Estate: 

XII. Open Session Actions from Executive Session:  
A. Adjourn 
 

 
Next proposed Scheduled Meeting: Regular Meeting, Tuesday, August 20th, 2024, at 10:00 AM. Items for 
the agenda must be submitted to the Sierra County Administration Office no later than 5:00pm on the 
Monday the week before the meeting. 
 

 
If you are an individual with a disability who is in need of a reader, amplifier, qualified sign language 
interpreter, or any other form of auxiliary aid or service to attend or participate in the hearing or 
meeting please contact the Sierra County Manager, at 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, New 
Mexico 87901, phone (575) 894-6215 at least one (1) week prior to the meeting or as soon as possible.  
Public documents, including the agenda and minutes, can be provided in various accessible formats. 
Please contact the Sierra County Manager if a summary or other type of accessible format is needed. 
 
 



 

      
          SIERRA COUNTY COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
        JUNE 25, 2024, 2024 

 
   

CALL TO ORDER:   10:00 am Regular Meeting  
 

The Sierra County Board of County Commissioners met in Regular Session 
at 10:00 A.M. on Tuesday, June 25, 2024, at the Sierra County Commission 
Chambers, 1712 N Date Street, Truth or Consequences, New Mexico. 
 

 ROLL CALL: 
 

 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
            Commissioner James Paxon, Vice-Chair 
 Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
  
 Clerk of Board: Shelly K. Trujillo  
             
 County Attorney: David Pato 
           
 County Manager: Amber Vaughn 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
NEW MEXICO STATE FLAG PLEDGE: 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
  
 Jessica West, Tim Kuzdrowski, Josh Baker, Lisa Daniel-Olive Tree, 
Elizabeth Leininger-SCBHWC, Ruben Lucero, Sharon K Ritzlar, Keith 
Whitney, Patrice Love 
     

I. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the agenda as presented.  
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
A. Regular Meeting-May 21, 2024 
B. Special Meeting-June 12, 2024 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
June 25, 2024 
Page 2   

 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the minutes as 
presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  
 

III. PUBLIC COMMENT: LIMITED TO 3 MINUTES 
  
IV. CONSENT AGENDA: 

 
A.  Resolution No. 110-249- Accounts Payable 
 
B.  Resolution No. 110-250- Indigent Claims 
 
C.  Indigent Burial B2024-008 
 
D.  Claim of Exemption 24-004 (Griffin et al) 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the Consent Agenda as 
presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

V. PRESENTATIONS/REPORTS: 
 
A.  Years of Service award 
B.  Department Reports 
 

VI. BOARD OF FINANCE: 
 

A.  May Reconciliation 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the May Reconciliation 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  

 
VII. OLD BUSINESS: 

 
VIII. NEW BUSINESS: 

 
A.  Road Vacation Request-Partial Vacation of Tularosa Road near Engle  
 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to Table Road Vacation Request-Partial 

Vacation of Tularosa Road near Engle as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair 
Paxon SECONDED the motion. Motion carries with Commissioners District 
1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
B.  Sheriff’s Department Proposal for Added Position 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
June 25, 2024 
Page 3   

 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the Sheriff’s Department 
Proposal for Added Position as presented.  Commission Chair Day 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioners District 1 and 
2 voting yes.  Commission District 3 voted no. 
 
C.  Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Hazard Mitigation Plan as 
presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
D.  Approval of Gift/Transfer of a 2003 Ford E-350 type III Ambulance from 
Las Palomas EMS to the NM State University Foundation on behalf of Dona 
Ana Community College, Emergency Medical Services Division 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the Approval of 
Gift/Transfer of a 2003 Ford E-350 type III Ambulance from Las Palomas 
EMS to the NM State University Foundation on behalf of Dona Ana 
Community College, Emergency Medical Services Division as presented.  
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  

     
IX. CONTRACTS – AGREEMENTS – PROCUREMENT 

 
A.  Hillsboro Community Center-HVAC System-CES-TREMCO/WTI 
   
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Hillsboro Community Center-

HVAC System-CES-TREMCO/WTI as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair 
Paxon SECONDED the motion. Motion carries with Commissioners District 
1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
B.  WAGNER/CAT FINANCIAL-SOURCEWELL-Lease Agreements/Road 
 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the WAGNER/CAT 
FINANCIAL-SOURCEWELL-Lease Agreements/Road as presented.  
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
C.  State of New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration Local 
Government Division DWI Grant Program-DWI Grant Agreement Program 
No. 25-D-G-28 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve State of New Mexico 
Department of Finance and Administration Local Government Division DWI 
Grant Program-DWI Grant Agreement Program No. 25-D-G-28 as 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
June 25, 2024 
Page 4   

 

presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
X. RESOLUTIONS – ORDINANCES – PROCLAMATIONS 

 
A.  Resolution No. 110-251-Budget Adjustment 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 110-251-
Budget Adjustment as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the 
motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
B.  Resolution No. 110-252-Infrastructure Capital Improvement Plan  
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 110-252-
Infrastructure Capital Improvement as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair 
Paxon SECONDED the motion. Motion carries with Commissioners District 
1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
C.  Resolution 110-253-Recognizing the Sierra County Behavioral Health and 
Wellness Collaborative (SCBHWC) as the Recognized Health Council 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution 110-253-
Recognizing the Sierra County Behavioral Health and Wellness 
Collaborative (SCBHWC) as the Recognized Health Council as presented.  
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
D.  Resolution No. 110-254-CAP 25 Participation in Local Government Road 
Fund Program and Request for Match Waiver Administered by New Mexico 
Department of Transportation 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 110-254-CAP 25 
Participation in Local Government Road Fund Program and Request for 
Match Waiver Administered by New Mexico Department of Transportation 
as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion. 
Motion carries with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
E.  Resolution No. 110-255-SB 25 Participation in Local Government Road 
Fund Program and Request for Match Waiver Administered by New Mexico 
Department of Transportation 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 110-255-SB 25 
Participation in Local Government Road Fund Program and Request for 
Match Waiver Administered by New Mexico Department of Transportation 
as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion. 
Motion carries with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
June 25, 2024 
Page 5   

 

 
F.  Resolution No. 110-256-SP 25 Participation in Local Government Road 
Fund Program and Request for Match Waiver Administered by New Mexico 
Department of Transportation 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 110-256-SP 25 
Participation in Local Government Road Fund Program and Request for 
Match Waiver Administered by New Mexico Department of Transportation 
as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion. 
Motion carries with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

  XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION SECTION (10-15-E THRU H): 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to go into Executive Session for 

Personnel, Real Estate, Pending and Threatened Litigation.  Commissioner 
Hopkins SECONDED the motion. Roll call vote was taken with all 
Commissioners present voting yes.   
 
            District 1 – Yes 
 District 2 – Yes 
 District 3 – Yes 

 
            PENDING AND THREATENED LITIGATION: 
 

A. In re Emergency Petition for an Order Directing the Submission of 
the Question of the Organization of the Sierra County Arroyo Flood Control 
District to the Qualified electors of Sierra County and to Declare the District 
Organized if Approved by the Voters of Sierra County, D-721-MS-2024-
00001 
B. Ashleigh Coulter v. Sierra county Assessor’s Office                                                                

           PERSONNEL: 
      
            REAL ESTATE:  
 
            DISPOSAL OF REAL PROPERTY 
 
            XII. OPEN SESSION ACTIONS FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to come back into Regular Session.  
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Roll call vote was taken, 
with all Commissioners present voting yes. 

 
 

 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT REGULAR SIERRA COUNTY 
COMMISSION MEETING:  
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
June 25, 2024 
Page 6   

 

The date and time of the next Regular Sierra County Commission Meeting 
has been scheduled for Tuesday, July 23, 2024, at 10:00 A.M. at Sierra 
County Commission Chambers, 1712 N Date Street, Truth or Consequences, 
New Mexico.   
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to adjourn the meeting. Commission Vice-
Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.    
 
ADJOURNMENT:  
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Commission 
Chair Day adjourned the meeting.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
June 25, 2024 
Page 7   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated this 25th day of June 2024. 
 
 

 
 
 
 SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 
 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 

Commissioner James E Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
________________________________________________________ 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Shelly K Trujillo, County Clerk 
 
 

   
 













































































































































State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Shelly Trujillo 
Co1111ty Clerk 
575-894-2840

Ca11dace Chavez 
Co1111ty Treas11rer 

575-894-3524

Michael H11sto11 
Co1111ty Assessor 

575-894-2589

Tom Pestak 
Probate J11dge 
575-894-2840 

1712 Date 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

Amber Va11gl,11 Co1111ty Ma11ager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

SIERRA COUNTY, NEW NEXICO 
Resolution No. 110-258

Indigent Claims 

Travis Day 
Cl,airma11 

575-894-6215

William Hopki11s 
Co111111issio11er 
575-894-6215

Ja111esPaxo11 
Vice-Chairma11 
5 75-894-62 I 5 

Josi, Baker 
Co1111ty Sheriff 
575-894-9150

WHEREAS, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners has received Indigent Hospital and Medical 
Claim request for those persons unable to make proper restitution for Medical Services in the amount of 
11481.94 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners desire to provide for the equitable and 
reasonable payment of claims, and; 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Sierra County Board of Commissioners hereby approve 
payment to those Indigent Hospital Claims in the amount of: 

Sole community Providers in the amount of$ 11481.94 

to be deducted from the proper funds appropriated in the 2024-2025 FY Budget. July 23. 2024 

Attest: 

SHELLY K. TRUJILLO 
SIERRA COUNTY CLERK 

Board of County Commissioners 
Sierra County, NM 

TRAVIS DAY, CHAIRMAN 

JAMES PAXON, VICE-CHAIRMAN 

WILLIAM HOPKINS, COMMISSIONER 

SIERRA COUNTY INDIGENT HEALTH CARE 











































































































MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT (MOA) 
BETWEEN 

THE BOARD OF REGENTS OF NEW MEXICO STATE UNIVERSITY/ 
NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE 

AND 
THE COUNTY LIVESTOCK LOSS AUTHORITY 

 
This agreement made and entered into by and between the NEW MEXICO STATE 
UNIVERSITY/NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, hereinafter referred to 
as the “Agency”, and the COUNTY LIVESTOCK LOSS AUTHORITY, hereinafter referred to 
as the “Contractor”. 

 
IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED BETWEEN THE PARTIES: 

 
1. SCOPE OF WORK 

 
As contemplated by and in accordance with Agency requirements (see Appendices A, 
B), the Contractor shall provide the following minimum services: 

 
A. Administer and manage the distribution of competitive grant funds for GR0007719, 

F23AP03392-00-Wolf Livestock Loss Compensation and Prevention Grant under 
the Preventive and Depredation Compensation Program to Support Viable 
Ranching, Self-Sustaining Wolf Populations, and Healthy Western Landscapes in 
the American Southwest CFDA Program Number 15.666 awarded by United States Fish 
and Wildlife Service (USFWS) to the Agency in a manner consistent with grant award 
terms. The Agency shall pay the Contractor an administration fee of ten percent (10%) 
of the total grant ($247,500), which is twenty-four thousand seven hundred and fifty 
dollars ($24,750) which shall come directly out of the grant award funds. 

 
B. Prepare and provide accurate and detailed documentation to the Agency to meet all 

federal fiscal accountability requirements and associated performance and financial 
reporting timelines identified in the grant awarded to the Agency by USFWS. These 
reports will include documentation of all matching funds required under the grant, which 
is the contractor’s responsibility to certify that the match requirement has been met and 
is legitimate, and contractor's responsibility to report to the Agency. The contractor will 
provide separate reporting for the Compensation and Prevention components of the 
grant. 

 
C.  

GR0007719, F23AP00919-00 Approved Funding 
Prevention $87,750 
Prevention administration $9,750 
Compensation $135,000 
Compensation administration $15,000 
Total $247,500 



MOA 
Wolf Livestock Loss Compensation and Prevention Grant 
GR0007719/F23AP00919-00 
County Livestock Loss Authority 
July 3, 2024 
Page 2 

 

 
D. Submit accurate and detailed invoices to the Agency. The amount of funding to be 

billed will not exceed $97,500 (ninety-seven thousand five hundred dollars) for 
GR0007719, F23AP00917-00, Prevention Measures Grant under the Preventive 
and Depredation Compensation Program to Support Viable Ranching, Self- Sustaining 
Wolf Populations, and Healthy Western Landscapes in the American Southwest. 

 
The amount of funding to be billed will not exceed $150,000 (one hundred fifty 
thousand dollars) for GR0007719, F23AP00919-00, Loss Compensation Grant 
under the Preventive and Depredation Compensation Program to Support Viable 
Ranching, Self-Sustaining Wolf Populations, and Healthy Western Landscapes in the 
American Southwest. 

 
E. Carry out fund administration and management actions on behalf of the Agency. 

 
F. Provide the Agency with quarterly financial and performance reports highlighting the 

funds disbursed, sub-recipient match provided and purpose of all payments due. 
 

The reporting deadlines are: 
Quarter Reports: Due: 
July 1 - September 30 October 31 
October 1 - December 31 January 31 
January 1 - March 31 April 30 
April 1 - June 30 July 31 

 
Annual/Final Reports: Due: 
October 1, 2023 - September 30, 2024 October 31, 2024 
October 1, 2024 - January 17, 2025 February 28, 2025 

 
G. Provide the Agency with final financial and performance reports, which are due thirty 

days following the termination of the agreement. 
 

*(SCOPE OF WORK) - - NMDA requires a reporting section within the MOA scope of 
work in accordance with the grant requirements as issued by the funder, USFWS. 
NMDA also requires a final report be submitted within 30 days of the final invoice 
payment. 



MOA 
Wolf Livestock Loss Compensation and Prevention Grant 
GR0007719/F23AP00919-00 
County Livestock Loss Authority 
July 3, 2024 
Page 3 

 

 
2. TERM AND MAXIMUM COMPENSATION 

 
This agreement shall commence on November 1, 2023 and terminate on 
October 31, 2025 (dates of the USFWS Award) unless terminated pursuant to 
paragraph 3. Maximum compensation under this sub-award will not exceed $247,500 
in total. Only allowable costs resulting from obligations incurred during the grant 
period and any authorized pre-award costs may be charged to the award. 

 
3. TERMINATION 

 
This agreement may be terminated by either of the parties hereto upon written notice 
delivered to the other party at least 10 days prior to the intended date of termination. By 
such termination, neither party may nullify obligations already incurred for performance 
or failure to perform prior to the date of termination. 

 
4. ASSIGNMENT 

 
The Contractor shall not assign or transfer any interest in this agreement or assign any 
claims for money due or to become due under this agreement without the prior written 
approval of the Agency. 

 
5. SUBCONTRACTING 

 
The Contractor shall not subcontract any portion of the services to be performed under 
this agreement without the prior written approval of the Agency. 

 
6. RECORDS AND AUDIT 

 
The Contractor shall maintain level of effort records that indicate the date and nature of 
services rendered. These records shall be subject to inspection by the Agency. The 
Agency shall have the right to audit billings both before and after payment; payment 
under this agreement shall not foreclose the right of the Agency to recover excessive 
illegal payments. 

 
A. Notices. All written notices concerning this Agreement shall be sent by certified mail, 

return receipt requested, to the Parties as follows: 



MOA 
Wolf Livestock Loss Compensation and Prevention Grant 
GR0007719/F23AP00919-00 
County Livestock Loss Authority 
July 3, 2024 
Page 4 

 

 
For the Agency: 

 
Julie Maitland 
Division Director 
New Mexico Department of Agriculture 
MSC APR 
New Mexico State University 
P.O. Box 30005 
Las Cruces, NM 88003-8005 
Phone: 575-646-2642 
Email: jmaitland@nmda.nmsu.edu 

 
For the Contractor: 
Amber Vaughn 
Sierra County Manager 
1712 N. Date Street 
Truth or Consequences, NM 879101 
575-894-6215 
avaughn@sierraco.org 

 
7. INVOICING 

 
The Contractor shall make all invoices out to the New Mexico State University 
Accounts Payable Department, MSC 3FO, Las Cruces NM 88003, and email directly to 
NMDA. Management of this sub-award includes invoicing New Mexico State 
University/New Mexico Department of Agriculture on a cost-reimbursable basis. 
The invoice shall be submitted by e-mail to Patricia Depner at 
pdepner@nmda.nmsu.edu. Invoices must be submitted quarterly at a minimum.  

 
8. RELEASE 

 
The Contractor, upon final payment of the amount due under this agreement, releases 
the Agency, its officers and employees, and the State of New Mexico from all 
liabilities, claims, and obligations whatsoever arising from or under this agreement. 
The Contractor agrees not to purport to bind the State of New Mexico, unless the 
Contractor has an express written authority to do so, and then only within the strict 
limits of that authority. 

mailto:jmaitland@nmda.nmsu.edu
mailto:avaughn@sierraco.org
mailto:pdepner@nmda.nmsu.edu


MOA 
Wolf Livestock Loss Compensation and Prevention Grant 
GR0007719/F23AP00919-00 
County Livestock Loss Authority 
July 3, 2024 
Page 5 

 

 
9. CONFIDENTIALITY 

 
Any information provided to or developed by the Contractor in the performance of this 
agreement shall be kept confidential and shall not be made available to any individual 
or organization by the Contractor without the prior written approval of the Agency, 
unless required to disclose by court of competent jurisdiction. If required to disclose by 
a court, the receiving party shall give the disclosing party sufficient notice to allow the 
disclosing party to move the court or take any other action to protect its proprietary 
information. 

 
10. AMENDMENT 

 
This agreement shall not be altered, changed, or amended except by instrument in 
writing executed by the parties hereto. 

 
11. SCOPE OF AGREEMENT 

 
This agreement incorporates all the agreements, covenants, and understandings between 
the parties hereto concerning the subject matter hereof, and all such covenants, 
agreements, and understandings have been merged into this written agreement. No 
prior agreement or understandings, verbal or otherwise, of the parties or their agents 
shall be valid or enforceable unless embodied in this agreement. 

 
12. NOTICE 

 
The Procurement Code, Sections 13-1-28 through 13-1-199, NMSA 1978, imposes civil 
and criminal penalties for its violation. In addition, the New Mexico criminal statutes 
impose felony penalties for illegal bribes, gratuities, and kickbacks. 

 
13. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY COMPLIANCE 

 
The Contractor agrees to abide by all federal and state laws, rules, and regulations and 
executive orders of the Governor of the State of New Mexico pertaining to equal 
employment opportunity. In accordance with all such laws, rules, and regulations, and 
executive orders, the Contractor agrees to ensure that no person in the United States 
shall, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, sexual preference, age, or 
handicap, be excluded from employment with or participation in, be denied the benefits 
of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination under any program or activity performed 
under this agreement. If the Contractor is found to be not in compliance with these 
requirements during the life of this agreement, the Contractor agrees to take appropriate 



MOA 
Wolf Livestock Loss Compensation and Prevention Grant 
GR0007719/F23AP00919-00 
County Livestock Loss Authority 
July 3, 2024 
Page 6 

 

 
steps to correct these deficiencies. 

 
14. APPLICABLE LAW 

 
This agreement is governed by the laws of the State of New Mexico. 

 
15. OTHER PROVISIONS 

 
None 



MOA 
Wolf Livestock Loss Compensation and Prevention Grant 
GR0007719/F23AP00919-00 
County Livestock Loss Authority 
July 3, 2024 
Page 7 

 

 
 

WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this agreement subject to the approval of the 
agreement shown by dated signature. 

 
 

NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - AGENCY 
 
 

By:    Date 
Jeff Witte, Director/Secretary 

 
 

COUNTY LIVESTOCK LOSS AUTHORITY - CONTRACTOR 
 
 

By:    Date 
James Paxon, Chairman, Sierra County Director 

 
 

By:    Date 
Amber Vaughn, County Manager, Sierra County 

 
 

BOARD OF REGENTS OF NEW MEXICO STATE UNIVERSITY 
 
 

By:     Date 
Alisha Giron, Director Office of Grants & Contracts 



 

Appendix A 



(Subject to the availability of funds and satisfactory progress of the project): 

a. DEDUCTION 
b. ADDITIONAL COSTS 
c. MATCHING 
d. OTHER RESEARCH (Add / Deduct Option) 
e. OTHER (See REMARKS) 

c. This award notice including terms and conditions, if any, noted below under REMARKS. 
d. Federal administrative requirements, cost principles and audit requirements applicable to this grant. 

In the event there are conflicting or otherwise inconsistent policies applicable to the grant, the above order of precedence shall 
prevail.  Acceptance of the grant terms and conditions is acknowledged by the grantee when funds are drawn or otherwise 
obtained from the grant payment system. 

REMARKS     (Other Terms and Conditions Attached - Yes No) 

d. AMOUNT OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE THIS ACTION
c. Less Cumulative Prior Award(s) This Budget Period

a. d. 

b. e. 

c. f. 

13. Total Federal Funds Awarded to Date for Project Period

14. RECOMMENDED FUTURE SUPPORT 

Salaries and Wages

Fringe Benefits  ……………….................$ 

 TOTAL DIRECT COSTS 

INDIRECT COSTS     

TOTAL APPROVED BUDGET

Federal Share 
Non-Federal Share 

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

g.

h.

i.

j.

k.

l.

FINANCIAL ACCT

17. VENDOR CODE

 AMT OF FIN ASST START DATE

18b. DUNS

  END DATE 

19. CONG. DIST.

TAS ACCT

.…...….…..$ 

…………………………...$

…………………………...$

…………………………...$

…………………………...$

…………………………...$

…………………….……..$

m.

n.

m) 

YEAR TOTAL DIRECT COSTS YEAR TOTAL DIRECT COSTS

ALL AMOUNTS ARE SHOWN IN USD

  II Total project costs including grant funds and all other financial participation b. Less Unobligated Balance From Prior Budget Periods 

11. APPROVED BUDGET (Excludes Direct Assistance) 12. AWARD COMPUTATION 
  I  Financial Assistance from the Federal Awarding Agency Only   a. Amount of Federal Financial Assistance (from item 11

 ALTERNATIVES: 
15. PROGRAM INCOME SHALL BE USED IN ACCORD WITH ONE OF THE FOLLOWING

ON THE ABOVE TITLED PROJECT AND IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS INCORPORATED EITHER DIRECTLY 
OR BY REFERENCE IN THE FOLLOWING: 

16. THIS AWARD IS BASED ON AN APPLICATION SUBMITTED TO, AND AS APPROVED BY, THE FEDERAL AWARDING AGENCY 

a. The grant program legislation.
b. The grant program regulations. 

10b. FEDERAL PROJECT OFFICER10a. GRANTEE AUTHORIZING OFFICIAL

NOTICE OF AWARD 
1a. SUPERSEDES AWARD NOTICE dated  

Originating MCA #

AUTHORIZATION (Legislation/Regulations) 

4. GRANT NO.

5a. ACTION TYPE 

6. PROJECT PERIOD

7. BUDGET PERIOD

9a. GRANTEE NAME AND ADDRESS 9b. GRANTEE PROJECT DIRECTOR

MM/DD/YYYY

MM/DD/YYYY MM/DD/YYYY

MM/DD/YYYY MM/DD/YYYY

1. DATE ISSUED

2. CFDA NO. 

3. ASSISTANCE TYPE

8. 

From   Through    

From   Through    

4a. FAIN

5. TYPE OF AWARD

except that any additions or restrictions previously imposed 
remain in effect unless specifically rescinded 

 ……………….................$ 

Total Personnel Costs

Equipment

Supplies

Travel

Construction

Other

Contractual

TITLE OF PROJECT (OR PROGRAM)

LINE# PO LINE DESCRIPTION

$

$

$

$

$

$
$
$

$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

18a. UEI

Omnibus Public Land Management Act of 2009—Wolf Livestock Loss 
Demonstration Project (7 U.S.C. §8351 note)

09/07/2023

11/01/2023 10/31/2025

11/01/2023 10/31/2025

New Mexico's Preventive and Depredation Compensation Program in Support of Viable Ranching, Self-Sustaining Wolf Populations, and Healthy Western Landscapes in the American Southwest.

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

613,364.00

0.00

613,364.00

0.00

613,364.00

365,864.00

247,500.00

0.00

0.00

2

3

4

a

II

15.666 - Endangered Species Conservation-Wolf Livestock Loss Compensation and Prevention

Mr. Garrett  Hargrove 

3190 S Espina St 

Las Cruces, NM, 88003-1232 

Phone: 575-646-5860

NEW MEXICO STATE UNIVERSITY 

1050 Stewart Street, E1200, 

Las Cruces, NM, 88003

Ms. ALISHA  GIRON 

1050 Stewart St Ste E1200 

Las Cruces, NM, 88003-8001 

Phone: 575-646-1590

Mrs. Casey  Bruner 

9828 North 31st Avenue Suite C3 

Phoenix, AZ, 85051-3803 

Phone: 5055250031

247,500.00

021738519650070084514

Project Grant

0.00

247,500.00

6

7

Cliff Schleusner, CHIEF- WILDLIFE AND SPORT FISH RESTORATION PROGRAM 

500 GOLD AVE. SW 

ALBUQUERQUE, NM, 87102 

Phone: 505-248-7465

GRANTS MANAGEMENT OFFICIAL:

5

247,500.00

F23AP03392-00

F23AP03392 New

Other

2

1 0051041737-00010

0051041737-00020

$150,000.00

$97,500.00

11/01/2023

11/01/2023

10/31/2025

10/31/2025 1611

1611

New Grant - WLD-Prev 1113 / 15.666

New Grant - WLD-Comp 1113 / 15.666

J3M5GZAT8N85



SCOPE OF WORK

Project Description

New Mexico's Preventive and Depredation Compensation Program in Support of Viable Ranching, Self-Sustaining Wolf 

Populations, and Healthy Landscapes in the American Southwest

1. 

 
PAYMENTS

Domestic Recipients Enrolled in Treasury’s ASAP System

The recipient will request payments under this award in the U.S. Treasury’s Automated Standard Application for Payment 

(ASAP) system. When requesting payment in ASAP, your Payment Requestor will be required to enter an Account ID. The 

number assigned to this award is the partial Account ID in ASAP. When entering the Account ID in ASAP, the Payment 

Requestor should enter the award number identified in the notice of award, followed by a percent sign (%). Refer to the 

ASAP.gov Help menu for detailed instructions on requesting payments in ASAP.  

1. 

 
BUDGET AND PROGRAM REVISIONS

WSFR Budget and Program Revisions

The recipient is permitted to re-budget within the approved direct cost budget to meet unanticipated requirements and may make 

limited program changes to the approved project.  However, certain types of post-award changes in budgets and projects shall 

require the prior written approval of the Service.  Refer to 2 CFR 200.308 for additional information on the types of changes that 

require prior written approval. 

1. 

 
REPORT

WSFR Interim Financial Reports

The recipient is required to submit interim financial reports on an annual basis directly in GrantSolutions.  The recipient must 

follow the financial reporting period end dates and due dates provided in GrantSolutions.  The interim reporting due dates are 

available by signing in to GrantSolutions and selecting the menu for Reports>Federal Financial Report. The GrantSolutions 

financial report data entry fields are the same as those on the SF-425, “Federal Financial Report” form.  See also our instructional 

video on “Completing the Federal Financial Report (SF-425)”.

1. 

WSFR Interim Performance Reports

The recipient is required to submit interim performance reports on an annual basis directly in GrantSolutions.  The recipient must 

follow the performance reporting period end dates and due dates provided in GrantSolutions. The interim reporting due dates are 

available by signing in to GrantSolutions and selecting the menu for Reports>FPR.

2. 

Final Reports 

The recipient must liquidate all obligations incurred under the award and submit a final financial report in GrantSolutions no later 

than 120 calendar days after the award period of performance end date.  The GrantSolutions financial report data entry fields are 

the same as those on the SF-425, Federal Financial Report form,  https://www.grants.gov/web/grants/forms/post-award-reporting-

forms.html . See also our instructional video on “Completing the Federal Financial Report 

(SF425) https://fawiki.fws.gov/display/VLSV#VirtualLearningSeriesVideosHome-CompletingtheFederalFinancialReport(SF-

3. 

2 of 
09/07/2023

F23AP03392-00

2

PAGE  DATE ISSUED 

GRANT NO. 
NOTICE OF AWARD (Continuation Sheet) 

7



425)

The recipient must submit a final performance report no later than 120 calendar days after the award period of performance end 

date.  Performance reports must contain: 1) a comparison of actual accomplishments with the goals and objectives of the award as 

detailed in the approved scope of work; 2) a description of reasons why established goals were not met, if appropriate; and 3) any 

other pertinent information relevant to the project results.  Please include the Service award number on all reports.

The recipient must follow the final Federal Financial Report and the final Performance Report reporting period end dates and due 

dates provided in GrantSolutions. The final reporting due dates are available by signing in to GrantSolutions and selecting the 

menu for Reports>Federal Financial Report or Reports>FPR.

Reporting Due Date Extensions

Reporting due dates may be extended for an award upon request to the Service Project Officer identified in the notice of award. 

The request should be sent by selecting the award in GrantSolutions and selecting send message. The message must include the 

type of report to be extended, the requested revised due date, and a justification for the extension.  The Service may approve an 

additional extension if justified by a catastrophe that significantly impairs the award Recipient’s operations.  The recipient must 

submit reporting due date extension requests through GrantSolutions to the Service Project Officer identified in their notice of 

award before the original due date. The Service Project Officer will respond to the recipient after approval or denial of the 

extension request.

4. 

Significant Developments Reports

See 2 CFR §200.329(e).  Events may occur between the scheduled performance reporting dates that have significant impact upon 

the supported activity. In such cases, recipients are required to notify the Service in writing as soon as the recipient becomes 

aware of any problems, delays, or adverse conditions that will materially impair the ability to meet the objective of the Federal 

award. This disclosure must include a statement of any corrective action(s) taken or contemplated, and any assistance needed to 

resolve the situation. The recipient should also notify the Service in writing of any favorable developments that enable meeting 

time schedules and objectives sooner or at less cost than anticipated or producing more or different beneficial results than 

originally planned.

5. 

 
AWARD CONDITIONS

WSFR ES Match

The Federal share of the total project expenditures cannot exceed 50 percent. Recipient is eligible to request Federal obligated 

funds up to but not in excess of an amount equal to 50 percent of the total project expenditures dependent on the job.

1. 

WSFR Cost Accounting 

Cost accounting is required at the subaccount level.

2. 

WSFR Indirect Costs/Directly

The recipient will charge all costs directly.

3. 

 
SPECIAL TERMS AND REQUIREMENTS

Inadvertent Archaeological  or Historical Discoveries1. 

3 of 
09/07/2023

F23AP03392-00

3

PAGE  DATE ISSUED 

GRANT NO. 
NOTICE OF AWARD (Continuation Sheet) 

7



In the event any archaeological or historic materials are encountered during project activity, work in the immediate area must stop 

and the following actions taken:

Implement reasonable measures to protect the discovery site, including any appropriate stabilization or covering;1. 
Take reasonable steps to ensure the confidentiality of the discovery sites; and2. 
Take reasonable steps to restrict access to the site of discovery.3. 

The recipient must notify the concerned Tribes and all appropriate county, state, and federal agencies, including the State Historic 

Preservation Office.  Agencies and the Tribe(s) will discuss the possible measures to remove or avoid cultural material, and will 

reach an agreement with the recipient regarding actions to be taken and disposition of material.  If Human remains are uncovered, 

appropriate law enforcement agencies must be notified first, and the above steps followed.  If the remains are determined to be 

Native, consultation with the affected Tribe(s) will take place in order to mitigate the final disposition of said remains. 

Environmental Compliance Reviews

The Department must comply with the “Reasonable and Prudent Measures” and the “Terms and Conditions” set forth in the 

“Conference/Biological Opinion for the Proposed Revision to the Regulations for the Nonessential Experimental Population of the 

Mexican Wolf, the Issuance of a New Research and Recovery Permit for the Mexican Wolf Recovery Program and the Gray 

Wolf, and Funding Provided to Mexican Wolf Recovery Program for the Purpose of Implementing the Program, Consultation 

Number 02ENNM00-2015-F-0074.”

2. 

 
Terms and Conditions

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service

General Award Terms and Conditions

Recipients of U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) grant and cooperative agreement awards (hereafter referred to as ‘awards’) 

are subject to the terms and conditions incorporated into their Notice of Award either by direct citation or by reference to Federal 

regulations; program legislation or regulation; and special award terms and conditions. Award terms and conditions are applicable 

unless and until the USFWS removes or revises them in written notice to the recipient. The Service will make such changes by 

issuing a written notice that describes the change and provides the effective date.

Recipients indicate their acceptance of an award by starting work, drawing down funds, or accepting the award via electronic 

means. Recipient acceptance of an award carries with it the responsibility to be aware of and comply with all terms and conditions 

applicable to the award. Recipients are responsible for ensuring that their subrecipients and contractors are aware of and comply 

with applicable award statutes, regulations, and terms and conditions. Recipient failure to comply with award terms and 

conditions can result in the Service taking one or more of the remedies and actions described in Title 2 of the Code of Federal 

Regulations (CFR) §§200.339—343.

A PDF of these terms and conditions with embedded links to all regulations is available on the Service’s website 

at: https://www.fws.gov/media/fws-financial-assistance-award-terms-and-conditions-2020-12-31. See also the Department of the 

Interior’s General Award Terms and Conditions on their website at: https://www.doi.gov/grants/doi-standard-terms-and-

conditions.

Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements

These requirements and cost principles are applicable to all awards except those to individuals receiving the award separate from 

any business or organization they may own or operate. Foreign public entities and foreign organizations must comply with special 

1. 

4 of 
09/07/2023

F23AP03392-00

4

PAGE  DATE ISSUED 

GRANT NO. 
NOTICE OF AWARD (Continuation Sheet) 

7



considerations and requirements specific to their entity type, unless otherwise stated in this section. Foreign public entities must 

comply with those for states.

2 CFR Part 200, Subparts A—D, as supplemented by 2 CFR Part 1402

Foreign public entities must follow payment procedures in 2 CFR §200.305(b). For foreign public entities and foreign 

organizations, the requirements in 2 CFR §§200.321—323 do not apply.

Appendix XII to 2 CFR Part 200—Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters

Applicable to awards with a total Federal share of more than $500,000 except for awards of any amount to foreign public entities.

2 CFR Part 200, Subpart E—Cost Principles

Applicable to all domestic and foreign non-Federal entities except non-profit organizations identified in Appendix VIII to 2 CFR 

Part 200.

48 CFR Subpart 31.2—Contracts with Commercial Organizations

Applicable to non-profit organizations identified in Appendix VIII to 2 CFR Part 200 and for-profit organizations.

Indirect Cost Proposals

Requirements for development and submission of indirect cost rate proposals are contained in Appendix III (Institutions of Higher 

Education), Appendix IV (Nonprofit organizations), and Appendix VII (States, local government agencies, and Indian tribes) to 2 

CFR Part 200. See also the DOI negotiated indirect cost rate deviation policies at 2 CFR §1402.414. For-profit entities should 

contact the DOI National Business Center, Office of Indirect Cost Rate Services at: https://ibc.doi.gov/ICS/icrna.

2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F—Audit Requirements

Applicable to U.S. states, local governments, Indian tribes, institutions of higher education, and nonprofit organizations. Not 

applicable to foreign public entities, foreign organizations, or for-profit entities. 

Statutory and National Policy Requirements

These requirements are applicable to all awards, including those to individuals, for-profits, foreign public entities, and foreign 

organizations, unless otherwise stated in this section.

Appendix A to 2 CFR Part 25—Universal Identifier and System for Award Management

Not applicable to individuals or any entity exempted by the awarding bureau or office prior to award per 2 CFR §25.110(c)(2) and 

bureau or office policy.

Appendix A to 2 CFR Part 170—Award term for reporting subaward and executive compensation

Not applicable to individuals. See 2 CFR 170 for other exceptions.

2 CFR §175.15—Award Term for Trafficking in Persons

Applicable to private entities as defined in 2 CFR §175.25(d), states, local governments, and Indian tribes. Applicable to foreign 

public entities if funding could be provided to a private entity as a subrecipient under the award.

5 of 
09/07/2023

F23AP03392-00

5

PAGE  DATE ISSUED 

GRANT NO. 
NOTICE OF AWARD (Continuation Sheet) 

7



2 CFR Part 1400—Nonprocurement Debarment and Suspension

All recipients must ensure they do not enter into any covered transaction with an excluded or disqualified participant or principal. 

See also 2 CFR Part 180—OMB Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension (Nonprocurement). 2 

CFR §180.215 defines nonprocurement transactions that are not covered transactions.

2 CFR Part 1401—Requirements for Drug-Free Workplace (Financial Assistance)

Not applicable to foreign public entities or foreign organizations.

43 CFR Part 18—New Restrictions on Lobbying

Recipients are prohibited from using any federally appropriated funds (annually appropriated or continuing appropriations) or 

matching funds under a Federal award to pay any person for lobbying in connection with the award. Lobbying is influencing or 

attempting to influence an officer or employee of any U.S. agency, a Member of the U.S. Congress, or an officer or employee of a 

Member of the U.S. Congress in connection with the award.

41 U.S.C. §4712—Whistleblower Protection for Contractor and Grantee Employees 

41 U.S.C. §6306—Prohibition on Members of Congress Making contracts with Federal Government

Mandatory Disclosures

Failure to make required disclosures may result in any of the remedies for noncompliance described in 2 CFR §200.339, including 

suspension or debarment (see also 2 CFR Part 180).

Conflicts of interest: Per 2 CFR §1402.112, non-Federal entities and their employees must take appropriate steps to avoid 

conflicts of interest in their responsibilities under or with respect to Federal financial assistance agreements. In the procurement of 

supplies, equipment, construction, and services by recipients and by subrecipients, the provisions in 2 CFR §200.318 apply. Non-

Federal entities, including applicants for financial assistance awards, must disclose in writing any conflict of interest to the DOI 

awarding agency or pass-through entity in accordance with 2 CFR §200.112. Recipients must establish internal controls that 

include, at a minimum, procedures to identify, disclose, and mitigate or eliminate identified conflicts of interest. The recipient is 

responsible for notifying the Service Project Officer identified in their notice of award in writing of any conflicts of interest that 

may arise during the life of the award, including those that reported by subrecipients. The Service will examine each disclosure to 

determine whether a significant potential conflict exists and, if it does, work with the applicant or recipient to develop an 

appropriate resolution. Failure to resolve conflicts of interest in a manner that satisfies the government may be cause for 

termination of the award.

Lobbying: If the Federal share of the award is more than $100,000, recipients must disclose making or agreeing to make any 

payment using non-appropriated funds for lobbying in connection with the award. To make such disclosures, recipients must 

complete and submit the SF-LLL, “Disclosure of Lobbying Activities” form to the USFWS. This form is available at: 

https://www.grants.gov/web/grants/forms/post-award-reporting-forms.html. For more information on when additional submission 

of this form is required, see 43 CFR, Subpart 18.100. These restrictions are not applicable to such expenditures by Indian tribe, 

tribal organization, or any other Indian organization that is specifically permitted by other Federal law.

Other Mandatory Disclosures: Recipients and subrecipients must disclose, in a timely manner, in writing to the Service Project 

Officer identified in their notice of award or pass-through entity all violations of Federal criminal law involving fraud, bribery, or 

gratuity violations potentially affecting the Federal award. Non-Federal entities subject to the 2 CFR 200, Appendix XII—Award 

Term and Condition for Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters are required to report certain civil, criminal, or 

administrative proceedings to SAM.

6 of 
09/07/2023

F23AP03392-00

6

PAGE  DATE ISSUED 

GRANT NO. 
NOTICE OF AWARD (Continuation Sheet) 

7



National Policy Encouragements

Executive Order 13043—Increasing Seat Belt Use in the United States

Non-Federal entities are encouraged to adopt and enforce on-the-job seat belt policies and programs for their employees when 

operating company-owned, rented, or personally owned vehicles. Individuals are encouraged to use seat belts while driving in 

connection with award activities.

E. O. 13513—Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging While Driving

Non-Federal entities are encouraged to adopt and enforce policies that ban text messaging while driving, including conducting 

initiatives of the type described in section 3(a) of the order. Individuals are encouraged to not text message while driving in 

connection with award activities.

7 of 
09/07/2023

F23AP03392-00

7

PAGE  DATE ISSUED 

GRANT NO. 
NOTICE OF AWARD (Continuation Sheet) 

7



AWARD ATTACHMENTS

NEW MEXICO STATE UNIVERSITY F23AP03392-00

Award Attachments1. 



1 
 

Ref: Endangered Species Conservation – Wolf Livestock Loss Compensation and Prevention Grants, 

Federal Compliance Approval  

 

 

Project: New Mexico’s Preventive and Depredation Compensation Program in Support of Viable 

Ranching, Self-Sustaining Wolf Populations, and Healthy Western Landscapes in 

the American Southwest 

 

Approach:  

 

The program is comprised of the two core strategies of prevention and depredation compensation, and 

New Mexico Department of Agriculture (NMDA) has elected to submit the grant request as one. 

 

NMDA implements the wolf-livestock demonstration program with several partners to encourage 

livestock producer participation in the prevention of wolf/livestock interactions. When such interactions 

are unavoidable, livestock producers are compensated for certified wolf depredations of livestock in a 

timely manner. To accomplish these goals, NMDA will work with the New Mexico County Livestock 

Loss Authority (CLLA) and partners providing matching funds to use established protocols for obtaining 

participation by willing livestock producers. This usually involves an agreement between partners and 

producers for the procurement of range riders and use of other measures known to effectively deter 

wolves from their attraction to livestock. Tools and techniques such as increased human presence, timed 

calving, turbo fladry (temporary electric fencing), carcass removal, and the use of alternate pastures are 

just a few of the approaches that have been used in individual situations to keep both livestock and wolves 

safe. No one strategy will be effective in every situation, but NMDA’s partners and the CLLA will be 

available to provide recommendations to producers regarding the most appropriate and effective tools. 

 

 NMDA will maintain program oversight and ensure reports, inspections, expenditures, and progress are 

reported to the United States Fish and Wildlife Service.  

 

Endangered Species Act Determinations:  

Conference/Biological Opinion for the Proposed Revision to the Regulations for the Nonessential 

Experimental Population of the Mexican Wolf, the Issuance of a New Research and Recovery Permit for 

the Mexican Wolf Recovery Program and the Gray Wolf, and Funding Provided to Mexican Wolf 

Recovery Program for the Purpose of Implementing the Program, Consultation Number 02ENNM00- 

2015-F-0074. 

NHPA:  

 

No ground disturbing activities.  

 

NEPA Determinations: 

Final EIS: Proposed Revision to the Regulations for the Nonessential Experimental Population of the 

Mexican Wolf (Canis lupus baileyi) USFWS November 2014  

 

     

Grant Manager       

Date 8/23/2023 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

1 

AMENDED JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT 
COUNTY LIVESTOCK LOSS AUTHORITY 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is entered into by and between the Counties of Catron (“Catron”) 

Sierra (“Sierra”) and Socorro (“Socorro”), referred to collectively as the (“Counties”). 

I.   RECITALS  

WHEREAS, the Counties are bodies corporate and politic existing by and under the 

Constitution and Laws of the State of New Mexico; and, 

WHEREAS, this agreement is made under the authority of the Joint Powers Agreement 

Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 11-1-1 et seq. (“Joint Powers Act”); and, 

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 4-37-1 (1995) provides that Counties have the power 

to, “provide for the safety, preserve the health, promote the prosperity and improve the 

morals, order, comfort and convenience of any county or its inhabitants;” and, 

WHEREAS, the parties are concerned about the direct economic impacts that the Mexican 

wolf, and the recovery effort is having on both the Counties and the New Mexico livestock 

producers impacted; and,  

WHEREAS, these concerns have regrettably increased as the population of Mexican 

wolves has continued to expand, and impact livestock producers over a wider geographic 

area; and, 

WHEREAS, the implementation of the Mexican Grey Wolf Recovery Program 

(“MGWRP”) threatens livestock producer’s ability to maintain their quality and way of 

life; and,  

WHEREAS, ranching is a key positive socioeconomic factor, and major land use in 

Catron, Sierra, and Socorro Counties, and is part of the custom, culture and traditions of 

each of the Counties; and, 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

2 

WHEREAS, the complex nature of the MGWRP can be an impediment to productive 

proactive communication; and,  

WHEREAS, cooperative efforts and partnerships have successfully been used through out 

the Western United States to successfully address complex natural resource issues, 

including endangered species management; and, 

WHEREAS, the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution prohibits the taking 

of private property without just compensation; and, 

WHEREAS, Article 2, Section 4 of the New Mexico Constitution recognizes certain 

inalienable rights, among them “the rights of enjoying and defending life and liberty, of 

acquiring, possessing and protecting property, and of seeking and obtaining safety and 

happiness;” and,  

WHEREAS, Article 2, Section 20 of the New Mexico Constitution prohibits the taking 

or damaging of private property for public use without just compensation; and,  

WHEREAS, the Counties have agreed to share resources to establish a County Livestock 

Loss Authority to potentially access available Federal, state, and private funding to 

ameliorate the economic impact borne by New Mexico livestock producers, by virtue of 

the implementation of the United States Fish and Wildlife Service’s Mexican Grey Wolf 

Recovery Program.   

NOW THEREFORE the parties hereby establish the County Livestock Loss Authority, 

as detailed herein, which Board will exercise the common power outlined below to 

facilitate communication between management agencies, establish effective partnerships, 

and implement cooperative efforts to provide relief to New Mexico livestock producers in 

accordance with available funding, and to further facilitate the reduction of adverse wolf-



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

3 

livestock interactions and unlawful taking of federally endangered species. 

II.   COMMON POWER 

The parties share the power to “protect generally the property of its municipality and its 

inhabitants” and to “preserve peace and order” and, “provide for the safety, preserve the 

health, promote the prosperity and improve the morals, order, comfort and convenience of 

… its inhabitants”. See NMSA 1978, § 3-18-1 (1972) and NMSA 1978, § 4-37-1 (1995) 

 
III.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

3.1 Pursuant to the provisions of the Joint Powers Agreements Act, the parties 

agree that the “County Livestock Loss Authority” (CLLA) shall be 

organized and empowered as set forth herein. 

3.2 The CLLA will provide the services outlined herein to both the incorporated 

and unincorporated areas within the Mexican Grey Wolf Recovery Area. 

3.3    To do all acts necessary and proper to accomplish the purposes of this 

Agreement, including, but not limited to, the following: 

a. Establish and implement procedures to compensate landowners, 

lessees, or livestock operators for wolf presence and for wolf 

depredation(s) on livestock;  

b. Establish requirements for landowners, lessees and livestock 

operators to report and demonstrate wolf depredation on livestock 

consistent with the requirements of the applicable funding source; 

c. Establish eligibility and application requirements to receive 

compensation for wolf depredation on livestock consistent with the 

requirements of the applicable funding source; Determine the 

compensation rate for each livestock animal depredated by wolves; 

d. Determine the compensation rate for wolf presence, and a 

mechanism by which to distribute such compensation to New 

Mexico producers. 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

4 

e. Research and develop measures to prevent wolf depredation on 

livestock;   

f. Implement a pay-for-presence program that provides compensation 

for the landowners, lessees and livestock operators who allow 

wolves to be present on private property owned or leased by the 

landowner, lessee or livestock operator and accept potential wolf 

depredation on livestock, which program shall be implemented in 

accordance with the requirements of the funding source.  ; 

Coordinate with the USDA or other investigators in the 

investigation of wolf depredation on livestock. 

g. Coordinate with State and Federal Wildlife agencies to verify wolf 

depredation on livestock;  

h. Collaborate with Federal Farm Services Agencies in this State to 

promote livestock compensation programs; 

i. Establish procedures for landowners, lessees, or livestock operators 

to appeal the decisions of the County Livestock Loss Board; and, 

j. Identify and seek resources and financial commitments to fund the 

efforts outlined above. 

k. Compensate Landowners, lessees or livestock operators for 

presence and wolf depredations on livestock to the extent of the 

funding secured, less operational expenses. 

l. To establish, maintain, and administer the livestock compensation 

fund, which fund shall be held in a separate line item of the Catron 

County budget, which fund shall consist of federal monies, 

legislative appropriations from the State General Fund, public and 

private grants, gifts and private donations received for the purpose 

of compensating landowners, lessees, and livestock operators for 

wolf depredations on livestock. Monies in the livestock 

compensation fund may also be used to compensate landowners, 

lessees, and livestock operators for participation in a pay-for-



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

5 

presence program implemented by the County Livestock Loss 

Board.   

m. Accept and spend federal monies, public and private grants, gifts, 

contributions, and devises to assist in carrying out the purposes of 

this article.  These monies do not revert to the parties’ respective 

general funds at the end of a fiscal year, but shall carry-over to the 

next fiscal year to be used only for such purposes as outlined herein. 

IV.  BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CLLA Board) 

 
4.1 Board Members & Voting 

a) The activities of the CLLA shall be governed by a three  (3) member 

Board consisting of one representative appointed by each of the 

participating parties.   

b)  The Chairman of the CLLA Board shall have the same voting rights 

as any other member of the Board.   

c) Representatives of the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, New 

Mexico Game and Fish Department, the United States Department 

of Agriculture Wildlife Services, the New Mexico Department of 

Agriculture, New Mexico Cattlegrowers, and non-governmental 

organization (NGO) to be selected by the three participating 

Counties shall serve as ex-officio members of the CLLA Board.  Ex-

officio members shall have no voting powers, and their presence 

does not bear on the existence of a quorum. 

4.2 The powers and duties of the Board shall be to:  

 a) Hire and appoint the Administrator of CLLA, provided sufficient 

funds are available in the livestock compensation fund. 

               b)      Elect one (1) of its members as Chairperson and one (1) Vice  

                          Chairperson. 

           c) Hold meetings with the CLLA to receive reports  

                        and provide the Administrator with guidance and direction in 

compliance with the “Opens Meeting Act”; 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

6 

d) Determine the time and place of meetings and give public notice 

thereof; 

e) Assure for proper management and control of the finances and 

property of CLLA; 

f) Establish and adopt bylaws and internal rules and regulations and 

policies as it deems necessary to conduct the affairs of CLLA, 

including but not limited to personnel matters; 

g)         Adopt and maintain its own personnel policy; 

h) Establish written Administrator’s duties and responsibilities; 

i) Submit an annual operating budget to the Parties of this Agreement; 

j) Submit periodic certified financial statements detailing revenues 

received from all sources, expenditures, and obligations incurred 

and unpaid to the parties to this Agreement; 

k) Submit a quarterly activity report to the parties; 

l) Acquire and approve all appropriate insurance contracts for 

adequate coverage that will protect the interests of the CLLA and 

the parties to this Agreement, including but not limited to worker’s 

compensation, general liability, unemployment compensation, and 

property damage. Liability insurance policies shall be reviewed on 

a regular basis and coverage will be increased when necessary. 

m) Approve compensation plans for CLLA personnel; 

n) Approve and execute all CLLA contracts, public or private; 

o) Acquire and hold all personal or real property of CLLA or of the 

parties; and 

p) Approve in advance all CLLA personnel out of state travel. 

4.3 The terms and conditions of the Administrator’s employment shall be based 

solely upon a written Agreement approved by the CLLA Board.   

5.0 PERSONNEL ADMINISTRATION 

5.1 All CLLA personnel shall be employees of the Catron County.   

5.2 The compensation of CLLA personnel shall be established by the CLLA 

Board.  



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

7 

5.3 The County of Catron will house all personnel files, will provide Human 

Resource in-processing and maintenance for CLLA employees’ payroll 

system. 

5.4      CLLA employees shall be governed by personnel rules and procedures  

           established by Catron County. 

 
6.0 FINANCES AND BUDGETING 
 

6.1 The County of Catron shall act as the fiscal agent for the CLLA and shall 

collect all revenues accruing to and make all disbursements for the CLLA, 

including providing a monthly expense and revenue report and the 

Treasurer will provide a Treasurer’s report. 

6.2 No participating entity is responsible for the provision of any funds in 

support of this Agreement.  The operation of the CLLA is contingent upon 

receipt of federal monies, legislative appropriations from the State General 

Fund, public and private grants, gifts and private donations received for the 

purpose of compensating landowners, lessees, and livestock operators for 

wolf depredations on livestock. 

6.3    Operating funds of the CLLA shall be held in one or more separate accounts 

and shall not be commingled with the funds of any of the parties to this 

agreement, and shall only be utilized as provided herein. 

6.4 The CLLA may invest its funds only in accordance with any applicable laws 

of the State which govern the investment of public funds. 

6.5 No Party to this agreement shall have any liability to pay for any debt or 

other obligation incurred by the CLLA unless there is a specific written 

agreement to do so accompanied by an appropriation approved with the 

requisite formalities. 

6.6 The CLLA Board shall be strictly accountable and responsible for the 

proper expenditure of all public funds.  

6.7 The CLLA shall use, funds provided pursuant to this JPA solely for the uses 

set forth herein. 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

8 

6.8 The terms of the Bateman Act, being Sections 6-6-11 (1968), applies to this 

Agreement. The Act supersedes any conflicting provision of the 

Agreement.  

6.9 Expenditures of the CLLA are subject to the provisions of the  New Mexico 

Procurement Code, being NMSA 1978, Sections 13-1-28 et seq. (1984, as 

amended through 2021), and violation thereof may subject the responsible 

party to civil and or criminal penalties.  

6.10   The fiscal agent shall not allow any department of the fiscal agent to charge 

against any account unless the CLLA submits a signed invoice and or 

supporting documentation, consistent with the policies and procedures 

established by the CLLA Board, the CLLA Administrator and the County 

of Catron County Procurement Code, except as determined by the County 

to be necessary for day-to-day operations of CLLA (i.e., phone services etc.) 

6.11   The fiscal agent shall be responsible for providing a monthly expense and 

revenue report to CLLA and for providing the report to the CLLA Board 

for review and approval. 

6.12    The fiscal agent shall strictly account for receipts and disbursements made 

pursuant to this JPA, in accordance with the County of Catron Procurement 

Code and all other applicable laws and regulations. 

7.0 BOOKS AND RECORDS 

7.1 The CLLA shall maintain adequate and correct accounts of its funds, 

properties and business transactions, said accounts shall be open to 

inspection at any reasonable time by the parties hereto, their accountants or 

their agents.  The CLLA shall cause to be conducted an annual audit, which 

audit shall be conducted by an independent certified public accountant, 

approved by the State auditor.  The CLLA shall submit a copy of said audit 

to each of the parties. 

7.2 Within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year, the CLLA shall prepare and 

present to the parties a comprehensive annual report of the CLLA's 

activities and finances during the preceding year.  The CLLA shall also 

render to the parties hereto, at reasonable intervals and within a reasonable 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

9 

time period, such reports and accounting as the parties hereto may from time 

to time request. 

7.3 The CLLA shall prepare and present such other reports as may be required 

by law, regulation or contract to any authorized governmental agency. 

 

8.0 OTHER PROVISIONS 

8.2 A procedure for forwarding complaints from any of the parties or producers  

to the CLLA Administrator shall be established for operational and/or 

personnel matters. 

8.3 A CLLA “Standard Operating Guidelines” shall be developed as soon as 

feasible, but no later than 90 days after the date of hiring of the 

Administrator. 

8.4 This JPA and the rights of the parties hereto shall be governed by and 

construed in accordance with the Laws of the State of New Mexico. 

8.5 This JPA incorporates all of the agreements and understandings between 

the parties hereto concerning the subject matter hereof, and all such 

agreements and understandings have been merged into this written JPA.  No 

prior agreements or understandings, verbal or otherwise, of the parties or 

their agents are valid or enforceable unless embodied in this JPA. 

9.0 TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

9.1       The term of this Agreement shall be perpetual, unless terminated as herein 

provided.  Any of the parties may terminate this Agreement at any time, 

upon the issuance of notice of at least one fiscal-year notice, with the 

termination will become effective at the beginning of the next fiscal year. 

9.2 Upon termination of this Agreement by one or more of the parties to this 

Agreement, the powers granted to the CLLA under this Agreement shall 

continue to the extent necessary to make an effective disposition of the 

property.  Any property acquired shall be distributed equally among the 

parties, though its use will be limited as described herein. 

9.3 If any provision of this Agreement is subsequently held to be invalid or 

unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the remainder of 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

10 

this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and the remaining provisions 

of this Agreement would continue in full force and effect, unless the 

fulfillment of the purpose of the Agreement is rendered impracticable. 

9.4 If any provision of this JPA, or the application of such provisions to any 

person or circumstances shall be held invalid or unenforceable by a court of 

competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this JPA, or the application of its 

provisions to persons or circumstances other than those to which it is held 

invalid, shall not be affected thereby and the remainder of this JPA can be 

performed in substantial accordance with the original intent of the parties 

hereto. 

9.5 If any provision of this JPA, or the application of such provisions to any 

person or circumstances shall be held invalid or unenforceable by a court of 

competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this JPA, or the application of its 

provisions to persons or circumstances other than those to which it is held 

invalid, shall not be affected thereby and the remainder of this JPA can be 

performed in substantial accordance with the original intent of the parties 

hereto. 

9.6 Pursuant to the provisions of the Joint Powers Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 

11-1-1 et seq., all privileges and immunities from liability, exemptions from 

laws, ordinances, and rules, which apply to the activity of officers, agents, 

or employees of any signatory public agency when performing their 

respective functions within the territorial limits of their respective public 

agencies, shall apply to them to the same extent while engaged in the 

performance of any of their functions and duties under the provisions of the 

JPA. 

9.7 The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations 

and authorization being made by the Board of County Commissioners for 

the performance of this Agreement.  If sufficient appropriations and 

authorization are not made by the Board of County Commissioners, this 

Agreement shall terminate immediately upon written notice being given 

by the County to the City. 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

11 

10.0 AMENDMENTS 

         10.1     This agreement may be amended by the parties from time to time, but any 

amendment shall be in writing, executed by all of the parties thereto, and 

approved by the Department of Finance and Administration. 

11.0 LIABILITY PROVISION  

           11.1    No party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of the another 

party’s acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement.  Any liability 

incurred as a result of this Agreement is subject to the immunities and 

limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act. In accordance with NMSA 

1978, Sections 11-1-5 (1961), it is expressly declared that CLLA is a 

separate and independent legal entity from Catron County, Sierra County, 

and Socorro County, which are the entities that comprise the JPA. The 

members of the CLLA Board, its officers, and members of the JPA shall not 

be held personally liable for any acts performed or omitted in good faith by 

CLLA. 

12.0    INSURANCE 

12.1   CLLA shall obtain insurance to cover any suit which may be brought against 

it and its officers and employees. All liability insurance policies shall list 

the Counties of Catron, Sierra, and Socorro as additional insured.  The 

liability shall contain minimum limits amounts of $1,000,000.00 per person 

and $2,000,000.00 per occurrence. 

 
 
XIII.  CONTACT AND NOTICES  
 
The parties may, from time to time, change their contact person and shall provide prompt 

notice of such change to the other party.   Any notice required under this JPA shall be 

deemed given and delivered to, and received by, the receiving party three (3) days after 

deposit in the U.S. mail, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, 

addressed to the receiving party at the mailing address set forth below: 

 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

12 

Catron County contact person name and mailing address: 
 
      
     Catron County Manager 
     100 Main Street 
     Reserve, NM 87830 
 
     Telephone No:   (575) 533-6423 
 
Sierra County contact person name and mailing address: 
 
       
     Sierra County Manager 
     1712 North Date Street 
     T or C, NM 87901 
  
     Telephone No:  (575) 894-6215 
      
     

 Socorro County contact person name and mailing address: 
 
      Socorro County Manager 
      P.O. Box I 
      Socorro, NM 87801 
  
      Telephone No.: (575) 835-0589 x. 1105 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement which becomes 
effective as of the date of approval by the Department of Finance and Administration.   
This Amended Joint Powers Agreement amends, replaces and repeals the former 
agreement approved by the Department of Finance Administration on July 18, 2022.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

13 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF CATRON COUNTY 
 
APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this ____ day of ______________, 2024. 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
BUSTER GREEN 
CHAIRMAN, DISTRICT I 
 
__________________________ 
AUDREY MCQUEEN 
COMMISSIONER, DISTRICT II     ATTEST: 
 
___________________________     ___________________________  
HAYDN FORWARD     SHARON ARMIJO, CLERK 
VICE-CHAIRMAN DISTRICT III     
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

14 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SIERRA COUNTY 
 
 

APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this ____ day of ______________, 2024. 
 
 
_______________________________ ___________________________________ 

JAMES PAXON, CHAIRMAN   TRAVIS DAY, VICE-CHAIRMAN 
 
 

   ___________________________________ 
HANK HOPKINS, COMMISSIONER 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
SHELLEY K. TRUJILLO, COUNTY CLERK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

15 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SOCORRO COUNTY 
 
 
APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this ____ day of ______________, 2024. 
 

 
 
___________________________   ___________________________ 
JOE GONZALES, COMMISSIONER CRAIG D. SECATERO, VICE CHAIRMAN 
DISTRICT I DISTRICT II 
  
 
___________________________   ___________________________ 
JOHN J. AGUILAR, COMMISSIONER   GLEN DUGGINS, COMMISSIONER 
DISTRICT III       DISTRICT IV 
 
 

________________________________ 
ANTONIO RAY MARTINEZ, CHAIRMAN 

DISTRICT V 
 
ATTEST BY:   
 
 
____________________________________ 
BETTY SAAVEDRA, COUNTY CLERK  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



County Livestock Loss Authority JPA 
 

16 

APPROVED 
 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 
 
 

 
By: __________________________________ 
 Cabinet Secretary 
 
Date:  __________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 



    STATE OF NEW MEXICO
  DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

  GENERAL FUND 93100 CAPITAL APPROPRIATION PROJECT  

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the date it is executed, by and between the Department of Finance and
Administration, hereinafter called the “Department” or abbreviation such as “DFA/LGD”, and SIERRA COUNTY, hereinafter called
the "Grantee". This Agreement shall be effective as of the date it is executed by the Department.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, in the Laws of 2024, Chapter 66, Section 28, Paragraph 506, the Legislature made an appropriation to the
Department, funds from which the Department is making available to the Grantee pursuant to this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Department is granting to Grantee, and the Grantee is accepting the grant of, funds from this appropriation, in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 9-6-5 and 9-6-5.1 NMSA 1978, the Secretary of the Department of Finance and
Administration has the power and the authority to (i) maintain long-range estimates and plans for capital projects and develop
standards for measuring the need for, and utility of, proposed projects; (ii) contract for, receive and utilize any grants or other
financial assistance made available by the United States government or by any other source, public or private; (iii) provide planning
and funding assistance to units of local government, council of government organizations, Indian tribal governments situated within
New Mexico, and to nonprofit entities having for their purpose local, regional or community betterment; (iv) incident to any such
programs, may enter into contracts and agreements with such units of local government, council of government organizations, Indian
tribal governments, nonprofit entities and the federal government; and (v) delegate such authority to the Local Government Division
as being necessary and appropriate to such delegation;

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations contained herein, the parties hereby mutually
agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION, AMOUNT OF GRANT AND REVERSION DATE 

A. The project that is the subject of this Agreement is described as follows:

24-I3148                   $250,000.00                   APPROPRIATION REVERSION DATE: June 30, 2028

Laws of 2024, Chapter 66, Section 28, Paragraph 506, Two Hundred Fifty Thousand ($250,000.00), from the General Fund 93100 to
plan, design, construct, renovate and equip the county fairgrounds in Sierra county;

The Grantee's total reimbursements shall not exceed Two Hundred Fifty Thousand $250,000.00 (the "Appropriation Amount") minus
the allocation for Art in Public Places ("AIPP amount")1, if applicable, Zero $0.00, which equals Two Hundred Fifty Thousand
$250,000.00 (the "Adjusted Appropriation Amount"). 

In the event of a conflict among the Appropriation Amount, the Reversion Date, as defined herein and/or the purpose of the Project, as
set forth in this Agreement, and the corresponding appropriation language in the laws cited above in this Article I(A), the language of
the laws cited herein shall control.

This project is referred to throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the "Project"; the information contained in Article I(A) is
referred to collectively throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the "Project Description." [Optional Language if special
conditions apply. Attachment A sets forth additional or more stringent requirements and conditions, which are incorporated by this
reference as if set forth fully herein. If Optional Attachment A imposes more stringent requirements than any requirement set forth in
this Agreement, the more stringent requirements of Attachment A shall prevail, in the event of irreconcilable conflict.] The Grantee
shall reference the Project's number in all correspondence with and submissions to the Department concerning the Project, including,
but not limited to, Requests for Payment and reports.

                             1 / 10



ARTICLE II. LIMITATION ON DEPARTMENT'S OBLIGATION TO MAKE GRANT DISBURSEMENT TO GRANTEE

A.  Upon the Effective Date of this Agreement, for permissible purposes within the scope of the Project Description, the Grantee
shall only be reimbursed monies for which the Department has issued and the Grantee has received a Notice of Department’s
Obligation to Reimburse Grantee (hereinafter referred to as “Notice of Obligation”). This Grant Agreement and the
disbursement of any and all amounts of the above referenced Adjusted Appropriation Amount are expressly conditioned upon
the following:

i.  Irrespective of any Notice of Obligation, the Grantee’s expenditures shall be made on or before the Reversion Date
and, if applicable, an Early Termination Date (i.e., the goods have been delivered and accepted or the title to the goods
has been transferred to the Grantee and/or the services have been rendered for the Grantee); and

ii.  The total amount received by the Grantee shall not exceed the lesser of: (a) the Adjusted Appropriation Amount
identified in Article I(A) herein or (b) the total of all amounts stated in the Notice(s) of Obligation evidencing that the
Department has received and accepted the Grantee’s Third Party Obligation(s), as defined in subparagraph iii of this
Article II(A); and

iii.  The Grantee’s expenditures were made pursuant to the State Procurement Code and execution of binding written
obligations or purchase orders with third party contractors or vendors for the provision of services, including
professional services, or the purchase of tangible personal property and real property for the Project, hereinafter
referred to as “Third Party Obligations”; and

iv.  The Grantee’s submittal of timely Requests for Payment in accordance with the procedures set forth in Article IX of
this Agreement; and

v.  In the event that capital assets acquired with Project funds are to be sold, leased, or licensed to or operated by a private
entity, the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement:

a.  must be approved by the applicable oversight entity (if any) in accordance with law; or
b.  if no oversight entity is required to approve the transaction, the Department must approve the transaction as

complying with law.

Prior to the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement being approved pursuant to Articles II(A)(v)(a) and II(A)(v)(b)
herein, the Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion and unless inconsistent with State Board of Finance
imposed conditions, reimburse the Grantee for necessary expenditures incurred to develop the Project sufficiently to
make the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement commercially feasible, such as plan and design expenditures; and

vi.  The Grantee shall request approval of its obligation(s) by submitting a Notice of Obligation form as provided by the
Department. The Grantee’s submission of documentation of all Third Party Obligations and amendments thereto
(including terminations) to the Department and the Department’s issuance and the Grantee’s receiving of a Notice of
Obligation for a particular amount in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be governed by the following:

a.  The Grantee shall submit to the Department one copy of all Third Party Obligations and amendments thereto
(including terminations) as soon as possible after execution by the Third Party but prior to execution by the
Grantee. 

b.  Grantee acknowledges and agrees that if it chooses to enter into a Third Party Obligation prior to receiving a
Notice of Obligation that covers the expenditure, it is solely responsible for such obligations.

c.  The Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, issue to Grantee a Notice of Obligation for the
particular amount of that Third Party Obligation that only obligates the Department to reimburse Grantee’s
expenditures made on or before the Reversion Date or an Early Termination Date.

d.  The date the Department signs the Notice of Obligation is the date that the Department’s Notice of Obligation
is effective. After that date, the Grantee is authorized to budget the particular amount set forth in the Notice of
Obligation, execute the Third Party Obligation and request the Third Party to begin work. Payment for any
work performed or goods received prior to the effective date of the Notice of Obligation is wholly and solely
the obligation of the Grantee.

B.  The Grantee shall implement, in all respects, the Project. The Grantee shall provide all necessary qualified personnel,
material, and facilities to implement the Project. The Grantee shall finance its share (if any) of the costs of the Project,
including all Project overruns.

C.  Project funds shall not be used for purposes other than those specified in the Project Description.
D.  Unless specifically allowed by law, Project funds cannot be used to reimburse Grantee for indirect Project costs.

___________________________________________

1The AIPP amount is “an amount of money equal to one percent or two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000), whichever is less, of the amount of money appropriated
for new construction or any major renovation exceeding one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).” Section 13-4A-4 NMSA 1978.
2“Reimburse” as used throughout this Agreement includes Department payments to the Grantee for invoices received, but not yet paid, by the Grantee from a third
party contractor or vendor, if the invoices comply with the provisions of this Agreement and are a valid liability of the Grantee.  

                             2 / 10



ARTICLE III. NOTICE PROVISIONS AND GRANTEE AND DEPARTMENT DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVES

Whenever written notices, including written decisions, are to be given or received, related to this Agreement, the following provisions
shall apply.

The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their official representative(s) concerning all matters related
to this Agreement:

Grantee:       SIERRA COUNTY
Name:          Amber Vaughn
Title:            County Manager
Address:      1712 N. Date St., Suite D, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901
Email:          avaughn@sierraco.org
Telephone:   575-894-6215

The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their Fiscal Officer or Fiscal Agent concerning all matters
related to this Agreement:

Grantee:
Name:
Title:

      SIERRA COUNTY
      Becky Mena 

            Finance Director
Address:                1712 N. Date St., Suite D, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901
Email:                   bmena@sierraco.org
Telephone:   575-894-6215

The Department designates the persons listed below, or their successors, as the Points of Contact for matters related to this
Agreement.  

Department: DFA/Local Government Division
Name:           Alison Gillette
Title: Program Manager
Address:       Bataan Memorial Bldg. Rm 202, Santa Fe, NM 87501
Email:           Alison.Gillette@dfa.nm.gov
Telephone:   505-469-7811

The Grantee and the Department agree that either party shall send all notices, including written decisions, related to this Agreement to
the above named persons by email or regular mail. In the case of mailings, notices shall be deemed to have been given and received
upon the date of the receiving party’s actual receipt or five calendar days after mailing, whichever shall first occur. In the case of
email transmissions, the notice shall be deemed to have been given and received on the date reflected on the delivery receipt of email.

ARTICLE IV. REVERSION DATE, TERM, DEADLINE TO EXPEND FUNDS

A. As referenced in Article I(A), the applicable law establishes a date by which Project funds must be expended by Grantee,
which is referred to throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Reversion Date.” Upon being duly executed by both
parties, this Agreement shall be effective as of the date of execution by the Department. It shall terminate on June 30, 2028
the Reversion Date unless Terminated Before Reversion Date (“Early Termination”) pursuant to Article V herein.

B. The Project’s funds must be expended on or before the Reversion Date and, if applicable, Early Termination Date of this
Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, it is not sufficient for the Grantee to encumber the Project funds on its books on
or before the Project's Reversion Date or Early Termination Date. Funds are expended and an expenditure has occurred as of
the date that a particular quantity of goods are delivered to and received by the Grantee or title to the goods is transferred to
the Grantee and/or as of the date particular services are rendered for the Grantee. Funds are not expended and an expenditure
has not occurred as of the date they are encumbered by the Grantee pursuant to a contract or purchase order with a third party.

3 / 10



ARTICLE V. EARLY TERMINATION

A.  Early Termination Before Reversion Date Due to Completion of the Project or Complete Expenditure of the Adjusted
Appropriation or Violation of this Agreement 

Early Termination includes:
i. Termination due to completion of the Project before the Reversion Date; or

ii. Termination due to complete expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount before the Reversion Date; or
iii. Termination for violation of the terms of this Agreement; or
iv.  Termination for suspected mishandling of public funds, including but not limited to, fraud, waste, abuse, and conflicts

of interest.

Either the Department or the Grantee may early terminate this Agreement prior to the Reversion Date by providing the other
party with a minimum of fifteen (15) days’ advance, written notice of early termination. Grantee hereby waives any rights to
assert an impairment of contract claim against the Department or the State of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination
of this Agreement by the Department pursuant to Article V(A).

B. Early Termination Before Reversion Date Due to Non-appropriation
  The terms of this Agreement are expressly made contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorization being made by
the Legislature of New Mexico for the performance of this Agreement. Throughout this Agreement the term “non-
appropriate” or “non-appropriation” includes the following actions by the New Mexico Legislature: deauthorization,
reauthorization or revocation of a prior authorization. The Legislature may choose to non-appropriate the Appropriation
referred to in Article I and, if that occurs, the Department shall early terminate this Agreement for non-appropriation by giving
the Grantee written notice of such termination, and such termination shall be effective as of the effective date of the law
making the non-appropriation. The Department’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations or authorizations are
available shall be accepted by the Grantee and shall be final. Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of
contract claim against the Department or the State of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the
Department pursuant to Article V(B).

C. Limitation on Department’s Obligation to Make Grant Disbursements to Grantee in the Event of Early Termination
In the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by either party, the Department’s sole and absolute obligation to
reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth Article II.

 ARTICLE VI. SUSPENSION OF NEW OR FURTHER OBLIGATIONS  

A.  The Department may choose, in its sole and absolute discretion, to provide written notice to the Grantee to suspend entering
into new and further obligations. Upon the receipt of such written notice by the Grantee:

i. The Grantee shall immediately suspend entering into new or further written obligations with third parties; and
ii. The Department will suspend the issuance of any new or further Notice of Obligation under this Agreement; and

iii. The Department may direct the Grantee to implement a corrective action plan in accordance with Article VI(D) herein.

B. In the event of Suspension of this Agreement, the Department’s sole and absolute obligation to reimburse the Grantee is
expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth in Article II herein.

C. A suspension of new or further obligations under this Agreement shall remain in effect unless or until the date the Grantee
receives written notice given by the Department informing the Grantee that the Suspension has been lifted or that the
Agreement has been Early Terminated in accordance with Article V herein. If the Suspension is lifted, the Department will
consider further requests for Notice of Obligation.

D.  Corrective Action Plan in the Event of Suspension  
In the event that the Department chooses, in its sole and absolute discretion to direct the Grantee to suspend entering into new
or further written obligations with third parties pursuant to Article VI(A), the Department may, but is not obligated to, require
the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan to remedy the grounds for the Suspension. Such
corrective action plan must be approved by the Department and be signed by the Grantee. Failure to sign a corrective action
plan or meet the terms and deadlines set forth in the signed corrective action plan, is hereby deemed a violation of the terms of
this Agreement for purposes of Early Termination, Article V(A)(iii). The corrective action plan is in addition to, and not in
lieu of, any other equitable or legal remedy, including but not limited to Early Termination.

                             4 / 10



ARTICLE VII. AMENDMENT

This Agreement shall not be altered, changed, or amended except by instrument in writing duly executed by both the parties
hereto.

ARTICLE VIII. REPORTS

A.  Database Reporting 

The Grantee shall report quarterly Project activity by entering such Project information as the Department and the Department
of Finance and Administration may require, such information entered directly into a database maintained by the Department of
Finance and Administration. Additionally, the Grantee shall certify on the Request for Payment form that updates have been
maintained and are current in the database. The Grantee hereby acknowledges that failure to perform and/or certify updates
into the database will delay or potentially jeopardize the reimbursement of funds. The Department shall give Grantee a
minimum of thirty (30) days’ advance written notice of any changes to the information the Grantee is required to report.

Quarterly reports are due on the last day of each quarter. Quarter end reporting periods are September 30th, December 31st,
March 31st, and June 30th.

B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection  

 During the term of this Agreement and during the period of time during which the Grantee must maintain records pursuant to
Article VIII, the Department may:

i. request such additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary; and
ii. conduct, at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, onsite inspections of the Project.

Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within a reasonable period of time, as established by the
Department.

ARTICLE IX. REQUEST FOR PAYMENT PROCEDURES AND DEADLINES

A. The Grantee shall request payment by submitting a Request for Payment, in the form provided by the Department. Payment
requests are subject to the following procedures:

i. The Grantee must submit a Request for Payment; and
ii. Each Request for Payment must contain proof of payment by the Grantee or liabilities incurred by the Grantee showing

that the expenditures are valid or are liabilities incurred by the Grantee in the form of actual unpaid invoices received
by the Grantee for services rendered by a third party or items of tangible personal property received by the Grantee for
the implementation of the Project; provided, however, that the Grantee may be reimbursed for unpaid liabilities only if
the Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, agrees to do so and in accordance with any special conditions
imposed by the Department.

iii.  In cases where the Grantee is submitting a Request for Payment to the Department based upon invoices received, but
not yet paid, by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor, if the invoices comply with the provisions of this
Agreement and are a valid liability of the Grantee, the Grantee shall make payment to those contractors or vendors
within five (5) business days from the date of receiving reimbursement from the Department or such shorter period of
time as the Department may prescribe in writing. The Grantee is required to certify to the Department proof of
payment to the third party contractor or vendor within ten (10) business days from the date of receiving reimbursement
from the Department.

B.  The Grantee must obligate 5% of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount within six months of execution of the grant agreement
and must have expended no less than 85% of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount six months prior to the reversion date.

C. Deadlines 

Requests for Payments shall be submitted by Grantee to the Department on the earlier of:
i. Immediately as they are received by the Grantee but at a minimum thirty (30) days from when the expenditure was

incurred or liability of the Grantee was approved as evidenced by an unpaid invoice received by the Grantee from a
third party contractor or vendor; or

ii. Twenty (20) days from date of Early Termination; or

                             5 / 10



iii. Twenty (20) days from the Reversion Date.

D. The Grantee’s failure to abide by the requirements set forth in Article II and Article IX herein will result in the denial of its
Request for Payment or will delay the processing of Requests for Payment. The Department has the right to reject a payment
request for the Project unless and until it is satisfied that the expenditures in the Request for Payment are for permissible
purposes within the meaning of the Project Description and that the expenditures and the Grantee are otherwise in compliance
with this Agreement, including but not limited to, compliance with the reporting requirements and the requirements set forth in
Article II herein to provide Third Party Obligations and the Deadlines set forth in Article IX herein. The Department's ability
to reject any Request for Payment is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other legal or equitable remedy available to the
Department due to Grantee's violation of this Agreement.

ARTICLE X. PROJECT CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS; REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

A.  The following general conditions and restrictions are applicable to the Project:
i. The Project’s funds must be spent in accordance with all applicable state laws, regulations, policies, and guidelines,

including, but not limited to, the State Procurement Code (or local procurement ordinance, where applicable).
ii. The Project must be implemented in accordance with the New Mexico Public Works Minimum Wage Act, Section

13-4-10 through 13-4-17 NMSA 1978, as applicable. Every contract or project in excess of sixty thousand dollars
($60,000) that the Grantee is a party to for construction, alteration, demolition or repair or any combination of these,
including painting and decorating, of public buildings, public works or public roads and that requires or involves the
employment of mechanics, laborers or both shall contain a provision stating the minimum wages and fringe benefits to
be paid to various classes of laborers and mechanics, shall be based upon the wages and benefits that will be
determined by the New Mexico Department of Workforce Solutions to be prevailing for the corresponding classes of
laborers and mechanics employed on contract work of a similar nature in the locality. Further, every contract or project
shall contain a stipulation that the contractor, subcontractor, employer or a person acting as a contractor shall pay all
mechanics and laborers employed on the site of the project, unconditionally and not less often than once a week and
without subsequent unlawful deduction or rebate on any account, the full amounts accrued at time of payment
computed at wage rates and fringe benefit rates not less than those determined pursuant to Section 13-4-11 (B) NMSA
1978 to be the prevailing wage rates and prevailing fringe benefit rates issued for the project.

iii. The Project may only benefit private entities in accordance with applicable law, including, but not limited to, Article
IX, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of New Mexico, the “Anti-Donation Clause.”

iv. The Grantee shall not for a period of 10 years from the date of this agreement convert any property acquired, built,
renovated, repaired, designed or developed with the Project’s funds to uses other than those specified in the Project
Description without the Department's and the Board of Finance’s express, advance, written approval, which may
include a requirement to reimburse the State for the cost of the project, transfer proceeds from the disposition of
property to the State, or otherwise provide consideration to the State.

v. The Grantee shall comply with all federal and state laws, rules and regulations pertaining to equal employment
opportunity. In accordance with all such laws, rules and regulations the Grantee agrees to assure that no person shall,
on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, sexual preference, age or handicap, be excluded from employment
with Grantee, be excluded from participation in the Project, be denied benefits or otherwise be subject to
discrimination under, any activity performed under this Agreement. If Grantee is found to be not in compliance with
these requirements during the life of this Agreement, Grantee agrees to take appropriate steps to correct any
deficiencies. The Grantee's failure to implement such appropriate steps within a reasonable time constitutes grounds for
terminating this Agreement.

B.  The Grantee hereby represents and warrants the following:

i. The Grantee has the legal authority to receive and expend the Project’s funds.
ii. This Agreement has been duly authorized by the Grantee, the person executing this Agreement has authority to do so,

and, once executed by the Grantee, this Agreement shall constitute a binding obligation of the Grantee, enforceable
according to its terms.

iii. This Agreement and the Grantee's obligations hereunder do not conflict with any law or ordinance or resolution
applicable to the Grantee, the Grantee's charter (if applicable), or any judgment or decree to which the Grantee is
subject.

iv. The Grantee has independently confirmed that the Project Description, including, but not limited to, the amount and
Reversion Date, is consistent with the underlying appropriation in law.

v. The Grantee’s governing body has duly adopted or passed as an official act a resolution, motion, or similar action
authorizing the person identified as the official representative of the Grantee to sign the Agreement and to sign
Requests for Payment.

vi. The Grantee shall abide by New Mexico laws regarding conflicts of interest, governmental conduct and whistleblower

                             6 / 10



protection. The Grantee specifically agrees that no officer or employee of the local jurisdiction or its designees or
agents, no member of the governing body, and no other public official of the locality who exercises any function or
responsibility with respect to this Grant, during their tenure or for one year thereafter, shall have any interest, direct or
indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be performed or goods to be received,
pursuant to this Grant. Further, Grantee shall require all of its contractors to incorporate in all subcontracts the
language set forth in this paragraph prohibiting conflicts of interest.

vii. No funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Grantee, to any person for influencing or attempting to
influence an officer or employee of this or any agency or body in connection with the awarding of any Third Party
Obligation and that the Grantee shall require certifying language prohibiting lobbying to be included in the award
documents for all subawards, including subcontracts, loans and cooperative agreements. All subrecipients shall be
required to certify accordingly.

ARTICLE XI. STRICT ACCOUNTABILITY OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS; PROJECT RECORDS

A. The Grantee shall be strictly accountable for receipts and disbursements relating to the Project’s funds. The Grantee shall
follow generally accepted accounting principles, and, if feasible, maintain a separate bank account or fund with a separate
organizational code, for the funds to assure separate budgeting and accounting of the funds.

B. For a period of six (6) years following the Project's completion, the Grantee shall maintain all Project related records,
including, but not limited to, all financial records, requests for proposals, invitations to bid, selection and award criteria,
contracts and subcontracts, advertisements, minutes of pertinent meetings, as well as records sufficient to fully account for the
amount and disposition of the total funds from all sources budgeted for the Project, the purpose for which such funds were
used, and such other records as the Department shall prescribe.

C. The Grantee shall make all Project records available to the Department, the Department of Finance and Administration, and
the New Mexico State Auditor upon request. With respect to the funds that are the subject of this Agreement, if the State
Auditor or the Department of Finance and Administration finds that any or all of these funds were improperly expended, the
Grantee may be required to reimburse to the State of New Mexico, to the originating fund, any and all amounts found to be
improperly expended.

ARTICLE XII. IMPROPERLY REIMBURSED FUNDS 

If the Department determines that part or all of the Appropriation Amount was improperly reimbursed to Grantee, including but not
limited to, Project funds reimbursed to Grantee based upon fraud, mismanagement, misrepresentation, misuse, violation of law by the
Grantee, or violation of this Agreement, the Grantee shall return such funds to the Department for disposition in accordance with law.

ARTICLE XIII. LIABILITY 

Neither party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of the other party's acts or omissions in connection with this
Agreement. Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to immunities and limitations of the New Mexico Tort
Claims Act.

ARTICLE XIV. SCOPE OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement constitutes the entire and exclusive agreement between the Grantee and Department concerning the subject matter
hereof. The Agreement supersedes any and all prior or contemporaneous agreements, understandings, discussions, communications,
and representations, written or verbal.

ARTICLE XV. REQUIRED NON-APPROPRIATIONS CLAUSE IN CONTRACTS FUNDED IN WHOLE OR PART BY
FUNDS MADE AVAILABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT 

The Grantee acknowledges, warrants, and agrees that Grantee shall include a “non-appropriations” clause in all contracts between it
and other parties that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this Agreement and (ii) entered into after the
effective date of this Agreement that states:

“The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorization being made by the Legislature of New
Mexico for the performance of this Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and authorization are not made by the Legislature, the 
SIERRA COUNTY may immediately terminate this Agreement by giving Contractor written notice of such termination. The 
SIERRA COUNTY’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations are available shall be accepted by the Contractor and shall be
final. Contractor hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the SIERRA COUNTY or the

                             7 / 10



Department of Finance and Administration, Local Government Division (DFA/LGD) or the State of New Mexico in the event of
immediate or Early Termination of this Agreement by the SIERRA COUNTY or the Department"

ARTICLE XVI. REQUIRED TERMINATION CLAUSE IN CONTRACTS FUNDED IN WHOLE OR PART BY FUNDS
MADE AVAILABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT 

Grantee acknowledges, warrants, and agrees that Grantee shall include the following termination clause in all contracts that are (i)
funded in whole or part by funds made available under this Agreement and (ii) entered into after the effective date of this Agreement:

“This contract is funded in whole or in part by funds made available under a DFA/LGD Grant Agreement. Should the DFA/LGD
early terminate the grant agreement, the SIERRA COUNTY may early terminate this contract by providing Contractor written notice
of such termination. In the event of termination pursuant to this paragraph, the SIERRA COUNTY only liability shall be to pay
Contractor for acceptable goods delivered and services rendered before the termination date.”

Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Department or the State of New Mexico in the
event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department.

 ARTICLE XVII. COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORM FUNDING CRITERIA. 

A. Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall:
1. submit all reports of annual audits and agreed upon procedures required by Section 12-6-3(A)-(B) NMSA 1978 by the

due dates established in 2.2.2 NMAC, reports of which must be a public record pursuant to Section 12-6-5(A) NMSA
1978 within forty-five days of delivery to the State Auditor;

2. have a duly adopted budget for the current fiscal year approved by its budgetary oversight agency (if any);
3. timely submit all required financial reports to its budgetary oversight agency (if any); and
4. have adequate accounting methods and procedures to expend grant funds in accordance with applicable law and

account for and safeguard grant funds and assets acquired by grant funds.
B. In the event Grantee fails to comply with the requirements of Paragraph A of this Article XVII, the Department may take one

or more of the following actions:
1. suspend new or further obligations pursuant to Article VI(A) of this Agreement;
2. require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan pursuant to Article VI(D) of this

Agreement to remedy the non-compliance;
3. impose special grant conditions to address the non-compliance by giving the Grantee notice of such special conditions

in accordance with Article III of this Agreement; the special conditions shall be binding and effective on the date that
notice is deemed to have been given pursuant to Article III; or

4. terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article V(A) of this Agreement.

 ARTICLE XVIII. SEVERANCE TAX BOND AND GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT CLAUSES

A.  Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the underlying appropriation for the Project is a severance tax bond or general
obligation bond appropriation, and that the associated bond proceeds are administered by the New Mexico State Board of
Finance (SBOF), an entity separate and distinct from the Department. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that (i) it is Grantee’s
sole and absolute responsibility to determine through SBOF staff what (if any) conditions are currently imposed on the
Project; (ii) the Department’s failure to inform Grantee of a SBOF imposed condition does not affect the validity or
enforceability of the condition; (iii) the SBOF may in the future impose further or different conditions upon the Project; (iv) all
SBOF conditions are effective without amendment of this Agreement; (v) all applicable SBOF conditions must be satisfied
before the SBOF will release to the Department funds subject to the condition(s); and (vi) the Department’s obligation to
reimburse Grantee from the Project is contingent upon the then current SBOF conditions being satisfied.

B. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the SBOF may in its sole and absolute discretion remove a project’s assigned bond
proceeds if the project doesn’t proceed sufficiently. Entities must comply with the requirement to encumber five percent (5%)
of Project funds within six months of bond issuance as certified by the grantee in the Bond Questionnaire and Certification
documents submitted to the SBOF. Failure to comply may result in the bond proceeds reassignment to a new ready project. If
this should occur this grant agreement will be suspended until the entity has demonstrated readiness as determined by the
SBOF and the Department.

C. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement is subject to the SBOF’s Bond Project Disbursements rule, NMAC
2.61.6, as may be amended or re-codified. The rule provides definitions and interpretations of grant language for the purpose
of determining whether a particular activity is allowable under the authorizing language of the agreement.

                             8 / 10



[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

                             9 / 10



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date of execution by the Department.

GRANTEE

___________________________________________
Entity Name

___________________________________________
Signature of Official with Authority to Bind Grantee

By: ________________________________________
  (Print Name)

Its: ________________________________________
  (Title)

____________________________________________
Date

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION
LOCAL GOVERNMENT DIVISION

___________________________________________
By: 

Its: Cabinet Secretary or Designee

___________________________________________
  Date

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

                            10 / 10



I. Grantee Information II. Payment Computation
A. Payment Request No.

A. Grantee: B. Grant Amount:

B. Address: C. AIPP Amount (If Applicable) :

D. Funds Requested to Date:

E. Amount Requested this Payment:

F. Reversion Amount (If Applicable ):

G. Grant Balance:C. Contact Name/Phone #:

D. Grant No: H.

E. Project Title:
Final Request for Payment (if Applicable )

F.

(The State of NM Fiscal Year is July 1, 20XX through June 30, 20XX of the following year)

IV.

V.

Grantee Fiscal Officer     Grantee Representative  
or Fiscal Agent (if applicable )

Printed Name Printed Name

Date: Date:

Vendor Code: Fund No.: Loc No.:

I certify that the State Agency financial and vendor file information agree with the above submitted information.

Division Fiscal Officer Date Division Project Manager Date

(State Agency Use Only)

Reporting Certification: I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, that reporting is up to date; to include the accuracy of 

expenditures and grant balance, project status, project phase, achievements and milestones; and in compliance with the Grant Agreement.

III. Fiscal Year :

STATE OF NEW MEXICO
GRANT PROJECT  

Request for Payment Form 
Exhibit 1

       (Make sure information is complete & accurate)

(Complete Mailing, including Suite, if applicable)

Grant Expiration Date:

Compliance Certification: Under penalty of law, I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, the above information is correct; 
expenditures are properly documented, and are valid expenditures or actual receipts; and that the grant activity is in full compliance with Article IX, Sec. 14 of the 
New Mexico Constitution known as the "anti donation" clause.

City, State, Zip

Revised 4-2022

PO # __________________________________



Page 15 of 17 

NOTICE OF OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE GRANTEE 
EXHIBIT 2

Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee # ___________   

DATE: ____________________________ 

TO:   Department Representative: _____________________________, _________________________ 

FROM: Grantee Entity: _________________________________________________________________ 

Grantee Official Representative:_____________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee      

Grant Number: ________________________________________________________________ 

Grant Termination Date: __________________________________________________________ 

As the designated representative of the Department for Grant Agreement number _________________________ 
entered into between Grantee and the Department, I certify that the Grantee has submitted to the Department the 
following third party obligation executed, in writing, by the third party’s authorized representative: 

Vendor or Contractor:  ___________________________________________________________ 

Third Party Obligation Amount: ___________________________________________________________ 

Vendor or Contractor:  ___________________________________________________________ 

Third Party Obligation Amount: ___________________________________________________________ 

I certify that the State is issuing this Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee for permissible purposes within 
the scope of the project description, subject to all the terms and conditions of the above referenced Grant 
Agreement. 

Grant Amount (Minus AIPP if applicable):    ____________________________________ 

The Amount of this Notice of Obligation:     ____________________________________ 

The Total Amount of all Previously Issued Notices of Obligation:  ____________________________________ 

The Total Amount of all Notices of Obligation to Date:  ____________________________________ 

Note: Contract amounts may exceed the total grant amount, but the invoices paid by the grant will not exceed the grant amount. 

Department Rep. Approver: __________________________________________________________________ 

Title:  __________________________________________________________________ 

Signature: __________________________________________________________________ 

Date:  __________________________________________________________________ 

1 Administrative and/or Indirect Cost – generally, the legislation authorizing the issuance of bonds prohibits the use of its proceeds for 
indirect expenses (e.g. penalty fees or damages other than pay for work performed, attorney fees, and administrative fees).  Such use of 
bond proceeds shall not be allowed unless specifically authorized by statute. 

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

http://www.tcpdf.org


Page 1 of 5 

FISCAL AGENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN  
SIERRA COUNTY 

AND THE 
SOUTH CENTRAL COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 

This Fiscal Agent Agreement, hereinafter referred to as “MOA” is entered into on 23rd day 
of July, 2024, between the South Central Council of Governments (“SCCOG”) a regional planning 
organization of the State of New Mexico and Sierra County (“County”), collectively referred to as 
the “Parties”. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, SCCOG was established pursuant to the Regional Planning Act, Sections 3-56-
1 NMSA 1978, et seq. and is the regional council of state planning and development district 
number 3 as provided in the Planning District Act, Sections 4-58-1 NMSA 1978, et seq. and is a 
local public body as defined in Article 6, Local Government Finances Section 6-6-1 NMSA 1978; 
and 

WHEREAS, the County is a member of SCCOG; and 

WHEREAS, Executive Order 2013-006 issued May 2, 2013, provides that a grantee for 
appropriations may not receive such funds if its audit does not meet certain requirements unless 
such funds are received by another appropriate entity acting as a fiscal agent; and,  

WHEREAS, the County requires assistance from a qualified local body to serve as fiscal 
agent to receive and expend certain legislative appropriations; and; 

WHEREAS, the County requires oversight with any and all contracts issued pursuant to any 
Request for Proposals or Invitation for Bids for the expenditure of the appropriated funds;  and; 

WHEREAS, SCCOG has the necessary expertise, staff and experience to serve as the fiscal 
agent to the County and to oversee the Procurement Process including issuance of contracts and 
payment for services; and, 

WHEREAS, the County has requested that SCCOG serve as the fiscal agent and oversee the 
procurement process, issuance of any contracts and process payment for services. 



Page 2 of 5 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THE MUTUAL PROMISES AND 
REPRESENTATIONS IN THIS MOA, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  DUTIES. 
 

A. SCCOG: 
 
   SCCOG will provide the following administrative services. 
 

1. SCCOG will provide oversight to the County in preparing requests for bids or RFPs in 
accordance with the NM Procurement Code, NMSA § 13-1-1 et. seq. 

2. SCCOG shall appoint a staff liaison to coordinate with the purchasing agent designated 
by the County to oversee the procurement process and administration of any contracts.  

3. The SCCOG procurement office and Executive Director will approve invoices associated 
with the expenditure of appropriated funds.  

4. All funds appropriated by the Legislature for the aforementioned purpose shall 
be received by the County from the Department of Finance and Administration Local 
Government Division or respective state agency. 

5. SCCOG shall ensure that grant funds are expended in compliance with all applicable 
laws, regulations and grant agreement and the transactions are appropriately accounted 
for in compliance with such laws, regulations and grant agreement. 

6. SCCOG shall ensure safeguarding of grant funds and assets acquired with grant funds 
and proper accounting thereof in compliance with applicable laws, regulations and grant 
agreement. 

7. SCCOG will charge the county for direct labor costs that are associated with its duties 
under this Agreement.  In no event shall the administrative fee be paid from the 
appropriations authorized by the Local Government Division of the Department of 
Finance and Administration and funded by the NM Legislature from Severance tax 
bond proceeds.  The administrative fee shall be paid by the County out of County 
Funds.  

 
B.  County: 

 
1. The County will prepare and manage the request for bids or RFP (as required by 

procurement code). 
2. The products and/or services acquired with the appropriated funds shall be the property 

of the County.  All purchased equipment shall be placed on the County’s inventory. 
3. The County will designate a purchasing agent to oversee the issuance of the request for 

bids or RFP, manage the procurement process and administer any and all contracts.  The 
purchasing agent will work in conjunction with the procurement manager provided by 
SCCOG. 

4. The County shall pay SCCOG for its direct labor costs associated with its duties under 
this Agreement.  In no event shall the administrative fee be paid from the 
appropriations authorized by the Local Government Division of the Department of 
Finance and Administration and funded by the NM Legislature from Severance tax 



Page 3 of 5 
 

bond proceeds.  The administrative fee shall be paid by the County out of County 
Funds.  

 
Section 2.   COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT.  The County shall pay 
SCCOG an amount equal to the direct labor costs associated with its duties under this Agreement.  
Payment shall be made on a payment schedule to be negotiated by the Parties, with final payment 
to be received upon completion of the expenditure of the appropriated funds.. 
 
Section 3. TERM. This agreement shall be from the date of approval to June 30, 2028, and 
may be renewed or terminated upon the written agreement of both parties.    
 
Section 4. TERMINATION. Either party may terminate this MOA upon thirty (30) days 
written notice.  Such early termination shall not nullify obligations incurred for performance or 
failure to perform prior to termination.  
 
Section 5. AMENDMENT. This MOA may be amended at any time by mutual agreement of 
the parties.  Any amendment shall be in writing and executed by the Parties. 
 
Section 6.       COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  In performing the disposition of Property 
pursuant to this MOA, the Parties shall comply with the laws of the State of New Mexico, the 
policies of the County and the policies of the SCCOG.    
 
Section 7.   STATUS.  SCCOG, its employees and agents performing the services pursuant to 
this MOA are not employees of the County.  The SCCOG and its agents and employees shall not 
accrue leave, retirement, insurance, bonding, use of County vehicles, or any other benefits 
afforded to employees of the County. 
 
Section 8.   ASSIGNMENT.  The SCCOG shall not assign or transfer any interest in this 
agreement or assign any claims for money due or to become due under this agreement without 
the prior written approval of both Parties. 
 
Section 9.   SUBCONTRACTING.  The SCCOG may not subcontract portions of the 
services to be performed under this agreement without the prior written approval of the County. 
 
Section 10.   APPROPRIATIONS.  The terms of this MOA are contingent upon sufficient 
funds being made available by the Legislature of the State of New Mexico for the performance 
of this agreement.  If sufficient funds are not made available, this MOA shall terminate.  
Termination pursuant to this section shall be effective upon written notice being given by the 
County to SCCOG.   
 
Section 11.   RELEASE.  The SCCOG, upon final payment of all amounts due under this 
MOA, shall release the County, its officers and employees from all liabilities, claims and 
obligations whatsoever arising from or under this MOA. 
 
Section 12.  Liability.  Each Party shall be solely responsible for its own actions and for the actions 
of its employees, officers or agents under this MOA.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive 



Page 4 of 5 
 

any and all limitations on liability and other protections under the New Mexico Tort Claims Act. 
All of the privileges and immunities from liability, exemptions from laws, ordinances and rules, 
all pension, relief, disability, workmen's compensation and other benefits which apply to the 
activity of officers, agents or employees of any Party when performing their respective functions 
within the territorial limits of their respective public agencies, shall apply to them to the same 
extent while engaged in the performance of their functions and duties extraterritorially under the 
provisions of this MOA. 

Section 13.  SCOPE OF AGREEMENT.  This MOA incorporates all the agreements and 
understandings between the Parties concerning its subject matter, and all agreements and 
understandings have been merged into this MOA.  No prior or contemporaneous agreement or 
understanding, verbal or otherwise, of the parties or their agents concerning the subject matter of 
this MOU is valid or enforceable unless included in this MOA 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this MOA on the dates specified below. 
  
 
 SOUTH CENTRAL COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS   
 
By: __________________________ 

Jay Armijo, Executive Director 
 
Date: __________________________, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 5 of 5 
 

 
 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SIERRA COUNTY  

 
PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this 24th day of July, 2024. 
 
 BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF SIERRA COUNTY 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Travis Day, Chairman  
 
 
______________________________________ 
James Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Hank Hopkins, Commissioner 
 
Attest: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Shelly K. Trujillo 
Sierra County Clerk 
 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 1 of 10 FY2025 

Contract No.  
Vendor No. 0000054401 
Control No. HW2L100614 

 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND 
COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

 
 
This Agreement is between the New Mexico Department of Transportation (Department) and 
Sierra County (Public Entity), collectively referred as the “parties.”  This Agreement is effective 
as of the date of the last party to sign it on the signature page below.   
 
Pursuant to NMSA 1978, Sections 67-3-28 and 67-3-28.2, and State Transportation Commission 
Policy No. 44, and 
 
Pursuant to the Public Entity’s resolution that assumes ownership, liability, and maintenance 
responsibility for the project scope, or related amenities, and required funding to support the 
Project identified herein, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1.  Purpose. 

The purpose of this Agreement is to provide Local Government Road Funds to the Public 
Entity for the Project, as described in Control No. L100614, and the Public Entity’s resolution 
attached as Exhibit C. See: 

 
 Pavement Rehabilitation/Improvements, Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, Blading & 
Shaping, Miscellaneous, Construction Management, and Design of County Roads 
 

The Project is a joint and coordinated effort for which the parties each have authority or 
jurisdiction.  This Agreement specifies and delineates the rights and duties of the parties. 

 
2.  Project Funding. 

a. The estimated total cost for the Project is One Hundred Ninety Two Thousand Eighty 
Four Dollars and No Cents ($192,084) to be funded in proportional share by the 
parties as follows: 
 

Project Funding 
Department 

Share 
Public Entity  

Share 
Total Project 

Cost 
Funding Source 1 75% 25%  
FY 2025 Local Government Road 
Fund  

For the purpose stated above in 
Section 1. 

$144,063 $48,021 $192,084 

                                                Total Project Cost   $192,084 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 2 of 10 FY2025 

 

b. The Public Entity shall pay all Project costs, which exceed the Total Project Cost. 
c. Any costs incurred by the Public Entity prior to this Agreement are not eligible for 

reimbursement and are not included in the amount listed in this Section 2. 
 
3.   The Department Shall:  

Pay the Department’s Share of Project Funding identified in Section 2, Paragraph a, to the 
Public Entity in a single lump sum payment after: 
a. Receipt of a cover letter requesting funds; 
b. Receipt of a Notice of Award and Notice to Proceed;  
c. Receipt of Estimated Summary of Costs and Quantities;  
d. Verification of available Local Government Road Funds and Public Entity’s local matching 

funds identified in Section 2, Paragraph a; and 
e. All required documents must include Department Project and Control Number. 

 
4.   The Public Entity Shall: 

a. Act in the capacity of lead agency for the Project described in Section 1. 
b. Submit an estimate of the Project, including work to be performed and cost to the District 

Engineer within thirty (30) calendar days of execution of this Agreement, or as otherwise 
agreed to in writing by the parties. 

c. Be solely responsible for all proportional matching funds identified in Section 2.  Certify 
that these matching funds have been appropriated, budgeted, and approved for expenditure 
prior to execution of this Agreement.  

d. Pay all costs, and perform and supply or contract for all labor and material, for the purpose 
as described in Section 1 and the Project estimate approved by the District Engineer. 

e. Procure and award any contract in accordance with applicable procurement law, rules, 
regulations and ordinances. 

f. In accordance with project parameters, assume the lead planning and implementation role 
and sole responsibility for environmental, archaeological, utility clearances; railroad and 
Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) clearances; right-of-way acquisition; project 
development and design; and project construction and management. 

g. Cause all designs and plans to be performed under the direct supervision of a Registered 
New Mexico Professional Engineer, when applicable, as approved by the Department. 

h. Obtain all required written agreements or permits, as applicable, from all public and private 
entities. 

i. Allow the Department to inspect the Project to confirm that the Project is constructed in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  Disclosures of any failure to meet such 
requirements and standards as identified by the Department, will result in termination for 
default, including without limitation the Public Entity’s costs for funding, labor, equipment 
and materials. 

j. Complete the project within eighteen (18) months of approval of funding by the State 
Transportation Commission.   

k. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, provide written certification that all work 
under this Agreement was performed in accordance with either the New Mexico 
Department of Transportation’s Standard Specification, Current Edition; American Public 
Works Association (APWA) Specifications; Department approved Public Entity 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 3 of 10 FY2025 

established Specifications; or Department Specifications established for Local Government 
Road Fund projects, by submitting the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form, attached as Exhibit B.   

l. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, furnish the Department an AS BUILT 
Summary of Costs and Quantities form, attached as Exhibit C.  The report should reflect 
the total cost of the Project as stated in the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form.  

m. Failure to provide the Project Certification of Design, Construction, and Cost form and 
an AS BUILT Summary of Costs and Quantities report within thirty (30) calendar days 
of Project completion is a material breach of this Agreement and Public Entity shall 
reimburse to the Department all funds disbursed in accordance with this Agreement. 

n. Upon completion, maintain all Public Entity facilities that were constructed or 
reconstructed under this Agreement. 

 
5.   Both Parties Agree: 

a. Upon termination of this Agreement any remaining property, materials, or equipment 
belonging to the Department will be accounted for and disposed of by the Public Entity as 
directed by the Department. 

b. Any unexpended or unencumbered balance from the Local Government Road Fund 
appropriated for this Project reverts to the Department.  These balances, if any, must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of project completion or 
expiration of this Agreement, whichever occurs first. 

c. This Project is not being incorporated into the State Highway System and the Department 
is not assuming maintenance responsibility or liability. 

d. Pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 67-3-28.2, Local Government Road Funds granted under 
this provision cannot be used by the Public Entity to meet a required match under any other 
program.  

e. As applicable for state-funded projects, the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency 
(T/LPA) State Funding Handbook (Current Edition), and for projects with federal funds, 
the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency (T/LPA) Federal Funding Handbook 
(Current Edition), are incorporated by reference and control the contractual rights and 
obligations of the parties unless in conflict with the specific terms expressed in this 
Agreement or any amendments. 

 
6.  Term. 

This Agreement becomes effective upon signature of all Parties.  The effective date is the date 
when the last party signed the Agreement on the signature page below. This Agreement 
terminates on 12/31/2025.  In the event an extension to the term is needed, the Public Entity 
shall provide through a duly authorized agent written notice along with detailed justification 
to the Department sixty (60) calendar days prior to the expiration date to ensure timely 
processing of an Amendment. 

 
7.   Termination.  

a. If the Public Entity fails to comply with any provision of this Agreement, the Department 
may terminate this Agreement by providing thirty (30) calendar days written notice.  

b. The Department may terminate this Agreement if the funds identified in Section 2 have not 
been contractually committed within one year from the effective date of this Agreement. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 4 of 10 FY2025 

c. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made, this Agreement will terminate 
immediately upon written notice of the Department to the Public Entity.  

d. Neither party has any obligation after termination, except as stated in Sections 4, 5, and 16.  
 
8.   Third Party Beneficiary.  

It is not intended by any of the provisions of this Agreement to create in the public or any 
member of the public a third party beneficiary or to authorize anyone not a party to the 
Agreement to maintain suit for wrongful death(s), bodily and/or personal injury(ies) to 
person(s), damage(s) to property(ies), and/or any other claim(s) whatsoever pursuant to the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9.   Liability.  

As between the Department and Public Entity, neither party shall be responsible for liability 
incurred as a result of the other party’s acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement. 
Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to the immunities and 
limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 41-4-1, et seq., and 
other applicable law.  

 
10. Contractors Insurance Requirements.  

The Public Entity shall require contractors and subcontractors hired for the Project to have a 
general liability insurance policy, with limits of liability of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  
The Department is to be named as an additional insured on the contractors and subcontractor’s 
policy and a certificate of insurance and endorsements listing the Department as an additional 
insured must be provided to the Department and must state that coverage provided under the 
policy is primary over any other valid insurance.  
 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Public Entity shall require the contractor and 
subcontractors to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Department from and against any 
liability, claims, damages, losses or expenses (including but not limited to attorney’s fees, court 
costs, and the cost of appellate proceedings) arising out of or resulting from the negligence, 
act, error, or omission of the contractor and subcontractor in the performance of the Project, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by the contractor or anyone for whose acts they are 
liable in the performance of the Project.  

 
11. Scope of Agreement. 

This Agreement incorporates agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties 
concerning the subject matter. All such covenants, agreements, and understandings have been 
merged into this Agreement. No prior agreement or understandings, verbal or otherwise, of the 
parties or their agents are valid or enforceable unless included in this Agreement. 

 
 
12. Terms of this Agreement.  

The terms of this Agreement are lawful. Performance of all duties and obligations must 
conform with and not contravene any state, local, or federal statutes, regulations, rules, or 
ordinances. 

 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 5 of 10 FY2025 

13.  Legal Compliance. 
The Public Entity shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, and 
Department  regulations and policies in the performance of this Agreement, including, but not 
limited to laws governing civil rights, equal opportunity compliance, environmental issues, 
workplace safety, employer-employee relations and all other laws governing operations of the 
workplace. The Public Entity shall include the requirements of this Section 13 in each contract 
and subcontract at all tiers. 

 
14. Equal Opportunity Compliance. 

The parties agree to abide by all federal and state laws and rules and regulations, and executive 
orders of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, pertaining to equal employment 
opportunity. In accordance with all such laws and rules and regulations, and executive orders 
of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, the parties agree to assure that no person in the 
United States will, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual 
preference, age, disability, or other protected class, be excluded from employment with, or 
participation in, any program or activity performed under this Agreement. If the Public Entity 
is found to not comply with these requirements during the term of this Agreement, the parties 
agree to take appropriate steps to correct these deficiencies, subject to Section 7 above. 

 
15. Appropriations and Authorizations. 

The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorizations 
being made by the governing board of the Public Entity, the Legislature of New Mexico, or 
the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, for performance of the 
Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made by the Public Entity, 
Legislature of New Mexico, or the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, 
this Agreement will terminate upon written notice being given by one party to the other. The 
Department and Public Entity are expressly not committed to expenditure of any funds until 
such time as they are programmed, budgeted, encumbered, and approved for expenditure. 

 
16. Accountability of Receipts and Disbursements. 

There shall be strict accountability for all receipts and disbursements relating to this 
Agreement. The Public Entity shall maintain all records and documents relative to the Project 
for a minimum of five years after completion of the Project.  The Public Entity shall furnish 
the Department and State Auditor, upon demand, any and all such records relevant to this 
Agreement.  If documentation is insufficient to support an audit by customarily accepted 
accounting practices, the expense supported by such insufficient documentation must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days.  If an audit finding determines 
that specific funding was inappropriate or not related to the Project, the Public Entity shall 
reimburse that portion to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of written 
notification.   

 
17. Severability. 

In the event that any portion of this Agreement is determined to be void, unconstitutional or 
otherwise unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect. 

 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 6 of 10 FY2025 

18. Applicable Law. 
The laws of the State of New Mexico shall govern this Agreement, without giving effect to its 
choice of law provisions.  Venue is proper in a New Mexico Court of competent jurisdiction 
in accordance with NMSA 1978, Section 38-3-1(G). 

 
19. Amendment. 

This Agreement may be altered, modified, or amended only by an instrument in writing 
executed by the parties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 7 of 10 FY2025 

In witness whereof, each party is signing this Agreement on the date stated opposite that party’s 
signature.  
 
 
NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  
 
 
By:_____________________________  Date: _______________ 
Cabinet Secretary or Designee 
 
 
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency by the New Mexico Department of Transportation’s 
Office of General Counsel 
 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 Assistant General Counsel 
 
 
Sierra County 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 
Title: _____________________________ 
 
 
 
Attest: ____________________________ 
 Sierra County Clerk or Designee 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 8 of 10 FY2025 

EXHIBIT A 
PROJECT CERTIFICATION OF 

DESIGN, CONSTRUCTION, AND COST 
 
TO: New Mexico Department of Transportation 
  District _____ LGRF Coordinator 
 
Cooperative Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
Joint Powers Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
 
Entity: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Scope of Work (Including Routes and Termini): 
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
________ 
 
I, the undersigned, in my capacity as ________________ of _____________________ state 
that: 
 
1. The design is in compliance with all state laws, rules, regulations, and local ordinances and 
was performed in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Agreement and in the 
Tribal/Local Public Agency State Funding Handbook (Current Edition); 
 
2. Construction of the project was performed in accordance with standards and specifications set 
forth in: 
 __________________________________________________________________________ 
 and completed on _____________________, 20_____; and 
3.   That the total project cost of __________________________, with New Mexico Department 
of Transportation 75% share of _____________________ and the Public Entity share of 
_________________________ (as submitted in attached “As Built Summary of Costs and 
Quantities”) is accurate, legitimate, and appropriate for the project. 
 
 
_________________________   ___________________________ 
Name         Date  
 
_________________________ 
Print Name 
 
_________________________ 
Title 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 9 of 10 FY2025 

EXHIBIT B 

 
 

 
 

AS BUILT SUMMARY 

OF COSTS AND QUANTITIES  
  CONTRACT     

 
ENTITY:   No.:   CN:     

       
PROJECT  No.:        
 
TERMINI:             

             

       
SCOPE OF       
WORK:             

             

       
              

ITEM ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT ESTIMATED FINAL UNIT FINAL 

NO.     QUANTITY QUANTITY COST COST 

             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 10 of 10 FY2025 

EXHIBIT C 
Sierra County RESOLUTION 

 
PARTICIPATION IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND PROGRAM ADMINISTERED BY NEW 

MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
 
 WHEREAS, the Sierra County and the New Mexico Department of Transportation have entered into a 
cooperative grant agreement under the Local Government Road Fund Program for a local road project. 
 
 WHEREAS, the total cost of the project will be $192,084 to be funded in proportional share by the parties 
hereto as follows: 
 

CN L100614 
Project Funding 

Department 
Share 

Public Entity  
Share 

Total Project 
Cost 

Funding Source 1 75% 25% 100% 
FY 2025 Local Government Road Fund  

Pavement Rehabilitation/Improvements, 
Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, 
Blading & Shaping, Miscellaneous, 
Construction Management, and Design of 
County Roads 

$144,063 $48,021 $192,084 

 
 WHEREAS, the Sierra County shall pay all costs, which exceed the total project cost of $192,084. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved in official session that Sierra County determines, resolves, and orders 
as follows: 
 a. The project for this Cooperative Agreement is adopted and has a priority standing. 

b. The Cooperative Agreement terminates on 12/31/2025 and the Sierra County incorporates all the 
agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties hereto concerning the subject matter 
hereof, and all such covenants, agreements and understandings have been merged into the written 
agreement. 

 c. The agent of the Sierra County, _______________________________(name or title), shall have 
signature authority to bind the Sierra County to the terms and conditions of this Cooperative 
Agreement, and shall have authority to request in writing and secure extensions to the Cooperative 
Agreement on behalf of the Sierra County in the manner set forth by the Cooperative Agreement.   

 
 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Sierra County to enter into Cooperative Agreement for Project 
Control Number L100614 with the New Mexico Department of Transportation for the LGRF Program for fiscal 
year 2025 for (B050) Animas (C033) Calle Del Norte (A032) Harding - Pavement 
Rehabilitation/Improvements, Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, Blading & Shaping, 
Miscellaneous, Construction Management, and Design of County Roads within the control of Sierra 
County in the State of New Mexico.  
 
(Appropriate Signatures below (Council, Commission, School Board, Tribe, Pueblo, Nation, etc.) 
 

   
(PRINTED NAME, POSITION)         DATE 
            

   
(PRINTED NAME, POSITION)         DATE 
 

   
(PRINTED NAME, POSITION)     DATE 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 1 of 10 FY2025 

Contract No.  
Vendor No. 0000054401 
Control No. HW2L100609 

 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND 

COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 
 
 
This Agreement is between the New Mexico Department of Transportation (Department) and 
Sierra County (Public Entity), collectively referred as the “parties.”  This Agreement is effective 
as of the date of the last party to sign it on the signature page below.   
 
Pursuant to NMSA 1978, Sections 67-3-28 and 67-3-28.2, and State Transportation Commission 
Policy No. 44, and 
 
Pursuant to the Public Entity’s resolution that assumes ownership, liability, and maintenance 
responsibility for the project scope, or related amenities, and required funding to support the 
Project identified herein, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1.  Purpose. 

The purpose of this Agreement is to provide Local Government Road Funds to the Public 
Entity for the Project, as described in Control No. L100609, and the Public Entity’s resolution 
attached as Exhibit C. See: 

 
 Pavement Rehabilitation/Improvements, Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, 
Miscellaneous, Design, Construction Management of County Roads 
 

The Project is a joint and coordinated effort for which the parties each have authority or 
jurisdiction.  This Agreement specifies and delineates the rights and duties of the parties. 

 
 
2.  Project Funding. 

a. The estimated total cost for the Project is Two Hundred Thirteen Thousand Five 
Hundred Thirty Five Dollars and No Cents ($213,535) to be funded in proportional 
share by the parties as follows: 
 

Project Funding 
Department 

Share 
Public Entity  

Share 
Total Project 

Cost 
Funding Source 1 75% 25%  
FY 2025 Local Government Road 
Fund  

For the purpose stated above in 
Section 1. 

$160,151 $53,384 $213,535 

                                                Total Project Cost   $213,535 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 2 of 10 FY2025 

 

b. The Public Entity shall pay all Project costs, which exceed the Total Project Cost. 
c. Any costs incurred by the Public Entity prior to this Agreement are not eligible for 

reimbursement and are not included in the amount listed in this Section 2. 
 
3.   The Department Shall:  

Pay the Department’s Share of Project Funding identified in Section 2, Paragraph a, to the 
Public Entity in a single lump sum payment after: 
a. Receipt of a cover letter requesting funds; 
b. Receipt of a Notice of Award and Notice to Proceed;  
c. Receipt of Estimated Summary of Costs and Quantities;  
d. Verification of available Local Government Road Funds and Public Entity’s local matching 

funds identified in Section 2, Paragraph a; and 
e. All required documents must include Department Project and Control Number. 

 
4.   The Public Entity Shall: 

a. Act in the capacity of lead agency for the Project described in Section 1. 
b. Submit an estimate of the Project, including work to be performed and cost to the District 

Engineer within thirty (30) calendar days of execution of this Agreement, or as otherwise 
agreed to in writing by the parties. 

c. Be solely responsible for all proportional matching funds identified in Section 2.  Certify 
that these matching funds have been appropriated, budgeted, and approved for expenditure 
prior to execution of this Agreement.  

d. Pay all costs, and perform and supply or contract for all labor and material, for the purpose 
as described in Section 1 and the Project estimate approved by the District Engineer. 

e. Procure and award any contract in accordance with applicable procurement law, rules, 
regulations and ordinances. 

f. In accordance with project parameters, assume the lead planning and implementation role 
and sole responsibility for environmental, archaeological, utility clearances; railroad and 
Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) clearances; right-of-way acquisition; project 
development and design; and project construction and management. 

g. Cause all designs and plans to be performed under the direct supervision of a Registered 
New Mexico Professional Engineer, when applicable, as approved by the Department. 

h. Obtain all required written agreements or permits, as applicable, from all public and private 
entities. 

i. Allow the Department to inspect the Project to confirm that the Project is constructed in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  Disclosures of any failure to meet such 
requirements and standards as identified by the Department, will result in termination for 
default, including without limitation the Public Entity’s costs for funding, labor, equipment 
and materials. 

j. Complete the project within eighteen (18) months of approval of funding by the State 
Transportation Commission.   

k. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, provide written certification that all work 
under this Agreement was performed in accordance with either the New Mexico 
Department of Transportation’s Standard Specification, Current Edition; American Public 
Works Association (APWA) Specifications; Department approved Public Entity 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 3 of 10 FY2025 

established Specifications; or Department Specifications established for Local Government 
Road Fund projects, by submitting the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form, attached as Exhibit B.   

l. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, furnish the Department an AS BUILT 
Summary of Costs and Quantities form, attached as Exhibit C.  The report should reflect 
the total cost of the Project as stated in the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form.  

m. Failure to provide the Project Certification of Design, Construction, and Cost form and 
an AS BUILT Summary of Costs and Quantities report within thirty (30) calendar days 
of Project completion is a material breach of this Agreement and Public Entity shall 
reimburse to the Department all funds disbursed in accordance with this Agreement. 

n. Upon completion, maintain all Public Entity facilities that were constructed or 
reconstructed under this Agreement. 

 
5.   Both Parties Agree: 

a. Upon termination of this Agreement any remaining property, materials, or equipment 
belonging to the Department will be accounted for and disposed of by the Public Entity as 
directed by the Department. 

b. Any unexpended or unencumbered balance from the Local Government Road Fund 
appropriated for this Project reverts to the Department.  These balances, if any, must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of project completion or 
expiration of this Agreement, whichever occurs first. 

c. This Project is not being incorporated into the State Highway System and the Department 
is not assuming maintenance responsibility or liability. 

d. Pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 67-3-28.2, Local Government Road Funds granted under 
this provision cannot be used by the Public Entity to meet a required match under any other 
program.  

e. As applicable for state-funded projects, the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency 
(T/LPA) State Funding Handbook (Current Edition), and for projects with federal funds, 
the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency (T/LPA) Federal Funding Handbook 
(Current Edition), are incorporated by reference and control the contractual rights and 
obligations of the parties unless in conflict with the specific terms expressed in this 
Agreement or any amendments. 

 
6.  Term. 

This Agreement becomes effective upon signature of all Parties.  The effective date is the date 
when the last party signed the Agreement on the signature page below. This Agreement 
terminates on 12/31/2025.  In the event an extension to the term is needed, the Public Entity 
shall provide through a duly authorized agent written notice along with detailed justification 
to the Department sixty (60) calendar days prior to the expiration date to ensure timely 
processing of an Amendment. 

 
7.   Termination.  

a. If the Public Entity fails to comply with any provision of this Agreement, the Department 
may terminate this Agreement by providing thirty (30) calendar days written notice.  

b. The Department may terminate this Agreement if the funds identified in Section 2 have not 
been contractually committed within one year from the effective date of this Agreement. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 4 of 10 FY2025 

c. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made, this Agreement will terminate 
immediately upon written notice of the Department to the Public Entity.  

d. Neither party has any obligation after termination, except as stated in Sections 4, 5, and 16.  
 
8.   Third Party Beneficiary.  

It is not intended by any of the provisions of this Agreement to create in the public or any 
member of the public a third party beneficiary or to authorize anyone not a party to the 
Agreement to maintain suit for wrongful death(s), bodily and/or personal injury(ies) to 
person(s), damage(s) to property(ies), and/or any other claim(s) whatsoever pursuant to the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9.   Liability.  

As between the Department and Public Entity, neither party shall be responsible for liability 
incurred as a result of the other party’s acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement. 
Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to the immunities and 
limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 41-4-1, et seq., and 
other applicable law.  

 
10. Contractors Insurance Requirements.  

The Public Entity shall require contractors and subcontractors hired for the Project to have a 
general liability insurance policy, with limits of liability of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  
The Department is to be named as an additional insured on the contractors and subcontractor’s 
policy and a certificate of insurance and endorsements listing the Department as an additional 
insured must be provided to the Department and must state that coverage provided under the 
policy is primary over any other valid insurance.  
 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Public Entity shall require the contractor and 
subcontractors to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Department from and against any 
liability, claims, damages, losses or expenses (including but not limited to attorney’s fees, court 
costs, and the cost of appellate proceedings) arising out of or resulting from the negligence, 
act, error, or omission of the contractor and subcontractor in the performance of the Project, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by the contractor or anyone for whose acts they are 
liable in the performance of the Project.  

 
11. Scope of Agreement. 

This Agreement incorporates agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties 
concerning the subject matter. All such covenants, agreements, and understandings have been 
merged into this Agreement. No prior agreement or understandings, verbal or otherwise, of the 
parties or their agents are valid or enforceable unless included in this Agreement. 

 
 
12. Terms of this Agreement.  

The terms of this Agreement are lawful. Performance of all duties and obligations must 
conform with and not contravene any state, local, or federal statutes, regulations, rules, or 
ordinances. 

 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 5 of 10 FY2025 

13.  Legal Compliance. 
The Public Entity shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, and 
Department  regulations and policies in the performance of this Agreement, including, but not 
limited to laws governing civil rights, equal opportunity compliance, environmental issues, 
workplace safety, employer-employee relations and all other laws governing operations of the 
workplace. The Public Entity shall include the requirements of this Section 13 in each contract 
and subcontract at all tiers. 

 
14. Equal Opportunity Compliance. 

The parties agree to abide by all federal and state laws and rules and regulations, and executive 
orders of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, pertaining to equal employment 
opportunity. In accordance with all such laws and rules and regulations, and executive orders 
of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, the parties agree to assure that no person in the 
United States will, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual 
preference, age, disability, or other protected class, be excluded from employment with, or 
participation in, any program or activity performed under this Agreement. If the Public Entity 
is found to not comply with these requirements during the term of this Agreement, the parties 
agree to take appropriate steps to correct these deficiencies, subject to Section 7 above. 

 
15. Appropriations and Authorizations. 

The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorizations 
being made by the governing board of the Public Entity, the Legislature of New Mexico, or 
the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, for performance of the 
Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made by the Public Entity, 
Legislature of New Mexico, or the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, 
this Agreement will terminate upon written notice being given by one party to the other. The 
Department and Public Entity are expressly not committed to expenditure of any funds until 
such time as they are programmed, budgeted, encumbered, and approved for expenditure. 

 
16. Accountability of Receipts and Disbursements. 

There shall be strict accountability for all receipts and disbursements relating to this 
Agreement. The Public Entity shall maintain all records and documents relative to the Project 
for a minimum of five years after completion of the Project.  The Public Entity shall furnish 
the Department and State Auditor, upon demand, any and all such records relevant to this 
Agreement.  If documentation is insufficient to support an audit by customarily accepted 
accounting practices, the expense supported by such insufficient documentation must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days.  If an audit finding determines 
that specific funding was inappropriate or not related to the Project, the Public Entity shall 
reimburse that portion to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of written 
notification.   

 
17. Severability. 

In the event that any portion of this Agreement is determined to be void, unconstitutional or 
otherwise unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect. 

 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 6 of 10 FY2025 

18. Applicable Law. 
The laws of the State of New Mexico shall govern this Agreement, without giving effect to its 
choice of law provisions.  Venue is proper in a New Mexico Court of competent jurisdiction 
in accordance with NMSA 1978, Section 38-3-1(G). 

 
19. Amendment. 

This Agreement may be altered, modified, or amended only by an instrument in writing 
executed by the parties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 7 of 10 FY2025 

In witness whereof, each party is signing this Agreement on the date stated opposite that party’s 
signature.  
 
 
NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  
 
 
By:_____________________________  Date: _______________ 
Cabinet Secretary or Designee 
 
 
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency by the New Mexico Department of Transportation’s 
Office of General Counsel 
 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 Assistant General Counsel 
 
 
Sierra County 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 
Title: _____________________________ 
 
 
 
Attest: ____________________________ 
 Sierra County Clerk or Designee 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 8 of 10 FY2025 

EXHIBIT A 
PROJECT CERTIFICATION OF 

DESIGN, CONSTRUCTION, AND COST 
 
TO: New Mexico Department of Transportation 
  District _____ LGRF Coordinator 
 
Cooperative Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
Joint Powers Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
 
Entity: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Scope of Work (Including Routes and Termini): 
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
________ 
 
I, the undersigned, in my capacity as ________________ of _____________________ state 
that: 
 
1. The design is in compliance with all state laws, rules, regulations, and local ordinances and 
was performed in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Agreement and in the 
Tribal/Local Public Agency State Funding Handbook (Current Edition); 
 
2. Construction of the project was performed in accordance with standards and specifications set 
forth in: 
 __________________________________________________________________________ 
 and completed on _____________________, 20_____; and 
3.   That the total project cost of __________________________, with New Mexico Department 
of Transportation 75% share of _____________________ and the Public Entity share of 
_________________________ (as submitted in attached “As Built Summary of Costs and 
Quantities”) is accurate, legitimate, and appropriate for the project. 
 
 
_________________________   ___________________________ 
Name         Date  
 
_________________________ 
Print Name 
 
_________________________ 
Title 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 9 of 10 FY2025 

EXHIBIT B 

 
 

 
 

AS BUILT SUMMARY 

OF COSTS AND QUANTITIES  
  CONTRACT     

 
ENTITY:   No.:   CN:     

       
PROJECT  No.:        
 
TERMINI:             

             

       
SCOPE OF       
WORK:             

             

       
              

ITEM ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT ESTIMATED FINAL UNIT FINAL 

NO.     QUANTITY QUANTITY COST COST 

             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 10 of 10 FY2025 

EXHIBIT C 
Sierra County RESOLUTION 

 
PARTICIPATION IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND PROGRAM ADMINISTERED BY NEW 

MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
 
 WHEREAS, the Sierra County and the New Mexico Department of Transportation have entered into a 
cooperative grant agreement under the Local Government Road Fund Program for a local road project. 
 
 WHEREAS, the total cost of the project will be $213,535 to be funded in proportional share by the parties 
hereto as follows: 
 

CN L100609 
Project Funding 

Department 
Share 

Public Entity  
Share 

Total Project 
Cost 

Funding Source 1 75% 25% 100% 
FY 2025 Local Government Road Fund  

Pavement Rehabilitation/Improvements, 
Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, 
Miscellaneous, Design, Construction Management 
of County Roads 

$160,151 $53,384 $213,535 

 
 WHEREAS, the Sierra County shall pay all costs, which exceed the total project cost of $213,535. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved in official session that Sierra County determines, resolves, and orders 
as follows: 
 a. The project for this Cooperative Agreement is adopted and has a priority standing. 

b. The Cooperative Agreement terminates on 12/31/2025 and the Sierra County incorporates all the 
agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties hereto concerning the subject matter 
hereof, and all such covenants, agreements and understandings have been merged into the written 
agreement. 

 c. The agent of the Sierra County, _______________________________(name or title), shall have 
signature authority to bind the Sierra County to the terms and conditions of this Cooperative 
Agreement, and shall have authority to request in writing and secure extensions to the Cooperative 
Agreement on behalf of the Sierra County in the manner set forth by the Cooperative Agreement.   

 
 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Sierra County to enter into Cooperative Agreement for Project 
Control Number L100609 with the New Mexico Department of Transportation for the LGRF Program for fiscal 
year 2025 for Calle Del Norte (C033) and Chili Plant (B042) - Pavement Rehabilitation/Improvements, 
Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, Miscellaneous, Design, Construction Management of County 
Roads within the control of Sierra County in the State of New Mexico.  
 
(Appropriate Signatures below (Council, Commission, School Board, Tribe, Pueblo, Nation, etc.) 
 

   
(PRINTED NAME, POSITION)         DATE 
            

   
(PRINTED NAME, POSITION)         DATE 
 

   
(PRINTED NAME, POSITION)     DATE

 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 1 of 10 FY2025 

Contract No.  
Vendor No. 0000054401 
Control No. HW2L100589 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND 
COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

 
 
This Agreement is between the New Mexico Department of Transportation (Department) and 
Sierra County (Public Entity), collectively referred as the “parties.”  This Agreement is effective 
as of the date of the last party to sign it on the signature page below.   
 
Pursuant to NMSA 1978, Sections 67-3-28 and 67-3-28.2, and State Transportation Commission 
Policy No. 44, and 
 
Pursuant to the Public Entity’s resolution that assumes ownership, liability, and maintenance 
responsibility for the project scope, or related amenities, and required funding to support the 
Project identified herein, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1.  Purpose. 

The purpose of this Agreement is to provide Local Government Road Funds to the Public 
Entity for the Project, as described in Control No. L100589, and the Public Entity’s resolution 
attached as Exhibit C. See: 

 
 Pavement Rehabilitation/Improvements, Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, 
Miscellaneous, Construction Management and Design of county roads. 
 

The Project is a joint and coordinated effort for which the parties each have authority or 
jurisdiction.  This Agreement specifies and delineates the rights and duties of the parties. 

 
2.  Project Funding. 

a. The estimated total cost for the Project is Two Hundred Forty Four Thousand Two 
Hundred Ninteen Dollars and No Cents ($244,219) to be funded in proportional share 
by the parties as follows: 
 

Project Funding Department 
Share 

Public Entity  
Share 

Total Project 
Cost 

Funding Source 1 75% 25%  
FY 2025 Local Government Road 
Fund  

For the purpose stated above in 
Section 1. 

$183,164 $61,055 $244,219 

                                                Total Project Cost   $244,219 

 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 2 of 10 FY2025 

b. The Public Entity shall pay all Project costs, which exceed the Total Project Cost. 
c. Any costs incurred by the Public Entity prior to this Agreement are not eligible for 

reimbursement and are not included in the amount listed in this Section 2. 
 
3.   The Department Shall:  

Pay the Department’s Share of Project Funding identified in Section 2, Paragraph a, to the 
Public Entity in a single lump sum payment after: 
a. Receipt of a cover letter requesting funds; 
b. Receipt of a Notice of Award and Notice to Proceed;  
c. Receipt of Estimated Summary of Costs and Quantities;  
d. Verification of available Local Government Road Funds and Public Entity’s local matching 

funds identified in Section 2, Paragraph a; and 
e. All required documents must include Department Project and Control Number. 

 
4.   The Public Entity Shall: 

a. Act in the capacity of lead agency for the Project described in Section 1. 
b. Submit an estimate of the Project, including work to be performed and cost to the District 

Engineer within thirty (30) calendar days of execution of this Agreement, or as otherwise 
agreed to in writing by the parties. 

c. Be solely responsible for all proportional matching funds identified in Section 2.  Certify 
that these matching funds have been appropriated, budgeted, and approved for expenditure 
prior to execution of this Agreement.  

d. Pay all costs, and perform and supply or contract for all labor and material, for the purpose 
as described in Section 1 and the Project estimate approved by the District Engineer. 

e. Procure and award any contract in accordance with applicable procurement law, rules, 
regulations and ordinances. 

f. In accordance with project parameters, assume the lead planning and implementation role 
and sole responsibility for environmental, archaeological, utility clearances; railroad and 
Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) clearances; right-of-way acquisition; project 
development and design; and project construction and management. 

g. Cause all designs and plans to be performed under the direct supervision of a Registered 
New Mexico Professional Engineer, when applicable, as approved by the Department. 

h. Obtain all required written agreements or permits, as applicable, from all public and private 
entities. 

i. Allow the Department to inspect the Project to confirm that the Project is constructed in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  Disclosures of any failure to meet such 
requirements and standards as identified by the Department, will result in termination for 
default, including without limitation the Public Entity’s costs for funding, labor, equipment 
and materials. 

j. Complete the project within eighteen (18) months of approval of funding by the State 
Transportation Commission.   

k. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, provide written certification that all work 
under this Agreement was performed in accordance with either the New Mexico 
Department of Transportation’s Standard Specification, Current Edition; American Public 
Works Association (APWA) Specifications; Department approved Public Entity 
established Specifications; or Department Specifications established for Local Government 
Road Fund projects, by submitting the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 3 of 10 FY2025 

and Cost form, attached as Exhibit B.   
l. Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion, furnish the Department an AS BUILT 

Summary of Costs and Quantities form, attached as Exhibit C.  The report should reflect 
the total cost of the Project as stated in the Project Certification of Design, Construction, 
and Cost form.  

m. Failure to provide the Project Certification of Design, Construction, and Cost form and 
an AS BUILT Summary of Costs and Quantities report within thirty (30) calendar days 
of Project completion is a material breach of this Agreement and Public Entity shall 
reimburse to the Department all funds disbursed in accordance with this Agreement. 

n. Upon completion, maintain all Public Entity facilities that were constructed or 
reconstructed under this Agreement. 

 
5.   Both Parties Agree: 

a. Upon termination of this Agreement any remaining property, materials, or equipment 
belonging to the Department will be accounted for and disposed of by the Public Entity as 
directed by the Department. 

b. Any unexpended or unencumbered balance from the Local Government Road Fund 
appropriated for this Project reverts to the Department.  These balances, if any, must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of project completion or 
expiration of this Agreement, whichever occurs first. 

c. This Project is not being incorporated into the State Highway System and the Department 
is not assuming maintenance responsibility or liability. 

d. Pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 67-3-28.2, Local Government Road Funds granted under 
this provision cannot be used by the Public Entity to meet a required match under any other 
program.  

e. As applicable for state-funded projects, the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency 
(T/LPA) State Funding Handbook (Current Edition), and for projects with federal funds, 
the provisions of the Tribal/Local Public Agency (T/LPA) Federal Funding Handbook 
(Current Edition), are incorporated by reference and control the contractual rights and 
obligations of the parties unless in conflict with the specific terms expressed in this 
Agreement or any amendments. 

 
6.  Term. 

This Agreement becomes effective upon signature of all Parties.  The effective date is the date 
when the last party signed the Agreement on the signature page below. This Agreement 
terminates on 12/31/2025.  In the event an extension to the term is needed, the Public Entity 
shall provide through a duly authorized agent written notice along with detailed justification 
to the Department sixty (60) calendar days prior to the expiration date to ensure timely 
processing of an Amendment. 

 
7.   Termination.  

a. If the Public Entity fails to comply with any provision of this Agreement, the Department 
may terminate this Agreement by providing thirty (30) calendar days written notice.  

b. The Department may terminate this Agreement if the funds identified in Section 2 have not 
been contractually committed within one year from the effective date of this Agreement. 

c. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made, this Agreement will terminate 
immediately upon written notice of the Department to the Public Entity.  



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 4 of 10 FY2025 

d. Neither party has any obligation after termination, except as stated in Sections 4, 5, and 16.  
 
8.   Third Party Beneficiary.  

It is not intended by any of the provisions of this Agreement to create in the public or any 
member of the public a third party beneficiary or to authorize anyone not a party to the 
Agreement to maintain suit for wrongful death(s), bodily and/or personal injury(ies) to 
person(s), damage(s) to property(ies), and/or any other claim(s) whatsoever pursuant to the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9.   Liability.  

As between the Department and Public Entity, neither party shall be responsible for liability 
incurred as a result of the other party’s acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement. 
Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to the immunities and 
limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act, NMSA 1978, Sections 41-4-1, et seq., and 
other applicable law.  

 
10. Contractors Insurance Requirements.  

The Public Entity shall require contractors and subcontractors hired for the Project to have a 
general liability insurance policy, with limits of liability of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  
The Department is to be named as an additional insured on the contractors and subcontractor’s 
policy and a certificate of insurance and endorsements listing the Department as an additional 
insured must be provided to the Department and must state that coverage provided under the 
policy is primary over any other valid insurance.  
 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Public Entity shall require the contractor and 
subcontractors to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Department from and against any 
liability, claims, damages, losses or expenses (including but not limited to attorney’s fees, court 
costs, and the cost of appellate proceedings) arising out of or resulting from the negligence, 
act, error, or omission of the contractor and subcontractor in the performance of the Project, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by the contractor or anyone for whose acts they are 
liable in the performance of the Project.  

 
11. Scope of Agreement. 

This Agreement incorporates agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties 
concerning the subject matter. All such covenants, agreements, and understandings have been 
merged into this Agreement. No prior agreement or understandings, verbal or otherwise, of the 
parties or their agents are valid or enforceable unless included in this Agreement. 

 
 
12. Terms of this Agreement.  

The terms of this Agreement are lawful. Performance of all duties and obligations must 
conform with and not contravene any state, local, or federal statutes, regulations, rules, or 
ordinances. 

 
 
13.  Legal Compliance. 

The Public Entity shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, and 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 5 of 10 FY2025 

Department  regulations and policies in the performance of this Agreement, including, but not 
limited to laws governing civil rights, equal opportunity compliance, environmental issues, 
workplace safety, employer-employee relations and all other laws governing operations of the 
workplace. The Public Entity shall include the requirements of this Section 13 in each contract 
and subcontract at all tiers. 

 
14. Equal Opportunity Compliance. 

The parties agree to abide by all federal and state laws and rules and regulations, and executive 
orders of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, pertaining to equal employment 
opportunity. In accordance with all such laws and rules and regulations, and executive orders 
of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, the parties agree to assure that no person in the 
United States will, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual 
preference, age, disability, or other protected class, be excluded from employment with, or 
participation in, any program or activity performed under this Agreement. If the Public Entity 
is found to not comply with these requirements during the term of this Agreement, the parties 
agree to take appropriate steps to correct these deficiencies, subject to Section 7 above. 

 
15. Appropriations and Authorizations. 

The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorizations 
being made by the governing board of the Public Entity, the Legislature of New Mexico, or 
the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, for performance of the 
Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and authorizations are not made by the Public Entity, 
Legislature of New Mexico, or the Congress of the United States if federal funds are involved, 
this Agreement will terminate upon written notice being given by one party to the other. The 
Department and Public Entity are expressly not committed to expenditure of any funds until 
such time as they are programmed, budgeted, encumbered, and approved for expenditure. 

 
16. Accountability of Receipts and Disbursements. 

There shall be strict accountability for all receipts and disbursements relating to this 
Agreement. The Public Entity shall maintain all records and documents relative to the Project 
for a minimum of five years after completion of the Project.  The Public Entity shall furnish 
the Department and State Auditor, upon demand, any and all such records relevant to this 
Agreement.  If documentation is insufficient to support an audit by customarily accepted 
accounting practices, the expense supported by such insufficient documentation must be 
reimbursed to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days.  If an audit finding determines 
that specific funding was inappropriate or not related to the Project, the Public Entity shall 
reimburse that portion to the Department within thirty (30) calendar days of written 
notification.   

 
17. Severability. 

In the event that any portion of this Agreement is determined to be void, unconstitutional or 
otherwise unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 6 of 10 FY2025 

18. Applicable Law. 
The laws of the State of New Mexico shall govern this Agreement, without giving effect to its 
choice of law provisions.  Venue is proper in a New Mexico Court of competent jurisdiction 
in accordance with NMSA 1978, Section 38-3-1(G). 

 
19. Amendment. 

This Agreement may be altered, modified, or amended only by an instrument in writing 
executed by the parties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank. 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 7 of 10 FY2025 

In witness whereof, each party is signing this Agreement on the date stated opposite that party’s 
signature.  
 
 
NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  
 
 
By:_____________________________  Date: _______________ 
Cabinet Secretary or Designee 
 
 
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency by the New Mexico Department of Transportation’s 
Office of General Counsel 
 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 Assistant General Counsel 
 
 
Sierra County 
 
By:_______________________________  Date: _________________ 
 
Title: _____________________________ 
 
 
 
Attest: ____________________________ 
 Sierra County Clerk or Designee 
 
 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 8 of 10 FY2025 

EXHIBIT A 
PROJECT CERTIFICATION OF 

DESIGN, CONSTRUCTION, AND COST 
 
TO: New Mexico Department of Transportation 
  District _____ LGRF Coordinator 
 
Cooperative Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
Joint Powers Agreement No. __________________ Control No. ____________________ 
 
Entity: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Scope of Work (Including Routes and Termini): 
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
________ 
 
I, the undersigned, in my capacity as ________________ of _____________________ state 
that: 
 
1. The design is in compliance with all state laws, rules, regulations, and local ordinances and 
was performed in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Agreement and in the 
Tribal/Local Public Agency State Funding Handbook (Current Edition); 
 
2. Construction of the project was performed in accordance with standards and specifications set 
forth in: 
 __________________________________________________________________________ 
 and completed on _____________________, 20_____; and 
3.   That the total project cost of __________________________, with New Mexico Department 
of Transportation 75% share of _____________________ and the Public Entity share of 
_________________________ (as submitted in attached “As Built Summary of Costs and 
Quantities”) is accurate, legitimate, and appropriate for the project. 
 
 
_________________________   ___________________________ 
Name         Date  
 
_________________________ 
Print Name 
 
_________________________ 
Title 



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 9 of 10 FY2025 

EXHIBIT B 

 
 

 
 

AS BUILT SUMMARY 

OF COSTS AND QUANTITIES  
  CONTRACT     

 
ENTITY:   No.:   CN:     

       
PROJECT  No.:        
 
TERMINI:             

             

       
SCOPE OF       
WORK:             

             

       
              

ITEM ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT ESTIMATED FINAL UNIT FINAL 

NO.     QUANTITY QUANTITY COST COST 

             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             
             



 

LGRF Agreement Rev 5/2024 Page 10 of 10 FY2025 

EXHIBIT C 
Sierra County RESOLUTION 

 
PARTICIPATION IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ROAD FUND PROGRAM ADMINISTERED BY 

NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
 
 WHEREAS, the Sierra County and the New Mexico Department of Transportation have entered into 
a cooperative grant agreement under the Local Government Road Fund Program for a local road project. 
 
 WHEREAS, the total cost of the project will be $244,219 to be funded in proportional share by the 
parties hereto as follows: 
 

CN L100589 
Project Funding 

Department 
Share 

Public Entity  
Share 

Total Project 
Cost 

Funding Source 1 75% 25% 100% 
FY 2025 Local Government Road Fund  

Pavement Rehabilitation/Improvements, 
Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, 
Miscellaneous, Construction Management and 
Design of county roads. 

$183,164 $61,055 $244,219 

 

 WHEREAS, the Sierra County shall pay all costs, which exceed the total project cost of $244,219. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved in official session that Sierra County determines, resolves, and 
orders as follows: 
 a. The project for this Cooperative Agreement is adopted and has a priority standing. 

b. The Cooperative Agreement terminates on 12/31/2025 and the Sierra County incorporates all the 
agreements, covenants, and understandings between the parties hereto concerning the subject 
matter hereof, and all such covenants, agreements and understandings have been merged into the 
written agreement. 

 c. The agent of the Sierra County, _______________________________(name or title), shall have 
signature authority to bind the Sierra County to the terms and conditions of this Cooperative 
Agreement, and shall have authority to request in writing and secure extensions to the Cooperative 
Agreement on behalf of the Sierra County in the manner set forth by the Cooperative Agreement.   

 
 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Sierra County to enter into Cooperative Agreement for 
Project Control Number L100589 with the New Mexico Department of Transportation for the LGRF 
Program for fiscal year 2025 for (B050) Animas, (B041) Grand Percha, and (C005) Rancho Del Chiz - 
Pavement Rehabilitation/Improvements, Reconstruction, Drainage Improvements, Miscellaneous, 
Construction Management and Design of county roads. within the control of Sierra County in the State 
of New Mexico.  
 
(Appropriate Signatures below (Council, Commission, School Board, Tribe, Pueblo, Nation, etc.) 
 

   
(PRINTED NAME, POSITION)        DATE 
            

   
(PRINTED NAME, POSITION)        DATE 
 

   
(PRINTED NAME, POSITION)    DATE 



Resolution No. 110-259
Budget Transfer from 401 to 403, 500, and 502 

Whereas, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners, meeting in regular public 
session July 23, 2024, deem it necessary to transfer in the said line items in the 
budget to be made;  

Whereas, to cover negative ending balances; 

Therefore Be lt Resolved, that the Sierra County Board of Commissioners hereby 
move to implement the Iine item adjustments in the FY 2023-2024 Budget as 
described below: 

Transfer From 
401-0-1971 General Fund $44,159.00 

Transfer to 
403-0-1970  Farm and Range $10,061.00 
500-0-1970 White Sands Missile Range $3,623.00 
502-0-1970 Legislative Appropriations $30,475.00 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 23RD DAY OF JULY 2024. 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO 

____________________________ 
ATTEST: TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 

____________________________ 
HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Shelly K. Trujillo 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 



 
 
_____________________________ ____________________________ 
SHELLY K. TRUJILLO, COUNTY CLERK JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO.  110-260 

2024 FINAL YEAR QUARTER FINANCIAL REPORT YEAR ENDING JUNE 30,2024  
 
Whereas, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners met upon notice of meeting 
duly published at the Sierra County Administration Building, 1712 N. Date St, Truth 
or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 on July 23, 2024, at 10:00 a.m. as required by 
law; and,  
 
Whereas, the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Sierra has 
developed a budget for fiscal year 2023-2024; and  
 
Whereas, the final quarterly report has been reviewed and approved to ensure 
accuracy of the beginning balances used on the FY 2024 budget; and,   
 
Whereas, it is hereby certified that the contents in this report are true and correct 
to the best of our knowledge and that this report depicts all funds for fiscal year 
2024; and,  
 
Now, Therefore Be lt Resolved, by the Board of County Commissioners of the 
County of Sierra hereby approves the final quarterly report for FY 2024 hereinafter 
descripted as Attachment “A” and respectfully requests approval from the Local 
Government Division of the Department of Finance and Administration.  
 
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 23RD DAY OF JULY 2024. 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  
  
 
   ____________________________ 
ATTEST:   TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 
 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Shelly K. Trujillo 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



 
   ____________________________ 
   HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 
 
 
_____________________________ ____________________________ 
SHELLY K. TRUJILLO, COUNTY CLERK JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Resolution No.  110-261 

Budget/Line-Item Adjustment Resolution Increase Revenue and Expense.  
 

Whereas, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners met upon notice of 
meeting duly published at the Sierra County Administration Building, 1712 N. Date 
St, Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 on July 23, 2024, at 10:00 a.m. as 
required by law; and,  
 

Whereas, the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Sierra 
exercises the powers of the County as a body politic and corporate pursuant to 
NMSA 1978, Section 4-38-1(1884); and,  
 

Whereas, the Board of County Commissioners of Sierra County, has held 
public hearings for the purpose of receiving comments and requests for the budget.  
 

Now, Therefore Be lt Resolved, that the Board of County Commissioners 
of Sierra County approves the attached final budget as presented.   

 
Now, Therefore Be lt Further Resolved by the Board of County 

Commissioners of Sierra County to forward the budget to the Department of 
Finance and Administration for the final State Approval.  

 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 23RD DAY OF JULY 2024. 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  
  
 
   ____________________________ 
ATTEST:   TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
   ____________________________ 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Shelly K. Trujillo 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



   HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 
 
 
_____________________________ ____________________________ 
SHELLY K. TRUJILLO, COUNTY CLERK JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Resolution No.  110-262 

Budget/Line-Item Adjustment Resolution Increase Revenue and Expense.  
 
Whereas, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners, meeting in regular public 
session July 23, 2024, deem it necessary to transfer in the said line items in the 
budget to be made;  
 
Whereas, expenditures in various funds need to be adjusted to reflect actual 
expenditures;  
 
Therefore Be lt Resolved, that the Sierra County Board of Commissioners hereby 
move to implement the Iine item adjustments in the FY 2023-2024 Budget as 
described below: 
 
Increase Revenue: 
412-0 -1343 Hospital GRT $285,651.00 
427-0 -1093 National Opioid Settlement $10,534.29 
601-0 -1010 Current Property Tax  $641,689.00 

 
Increase Expense:  
412-0 -3000 DISBURSEMENTS $696,568.00 
403-60-2760 NM PREDATOR CONTROL $1,050.00 
404-65-2002 FULL-TIME SALARIES $4,724.00 
404-65-2007 FICA MATCH-7.65% $428.18 
404-65-2330 EQUIPMENT/VEHICLE 

MAINTENANCE 
$2,683.30 

404-65-2441 FUEL $736.45 
404-65-2871 ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS $607.75 
406-70-2812 NMGRT ADMINISTRATIVE FEE $8,109.00 
406-70-2872 SAFETY NET CARE POOL 1/12% $65,189.00 

State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Shelly K. Trujillo 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840 

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589 

 Joshua Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 
575-740-4900 

James Paxon 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Travis Day 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

Amber Vaughn, County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

 

1712 N. Date, Suite D 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

 



406-70-2873 INDIGENT HOSPITAL CLAIMS $10,419.00 
412-11-2812 NMGRT ADMIN FEE $5,595.00 
427-00-2771 PROFESSIONAL/LEGAL $17,524.00 
548-00-2812 NMGRT ADMIN FEE $72.00 
601-69-2020 HOSPITAL OPERATIONS $605,267.00 
629-03-2002 FULL-TIME SALARIES  $21,615.00 
512-0-1971 TO OTHER FUNDS $2,150,000.00 
   
   
   
   

 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 23RD DAY OF JULY 2024. 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS SIERRA COUNTY, NEW MEXICO  
  
 
   ____________________________ 
ATTEST:   TRAVIS DAY, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
   ____________________________ 
   HANK HOPKINS COMMISSIONER 
 
 
_____________________________ ____________________________ 
SHELLY K. TRUJILLO, COUNTY CLERK JAMES PAXON, COMMISSIONER 
 
 
 
 
 
 



COUNTY OF SIERRA 
RESOLUTION № 110-263

IN SUPPORT OF CALLING FOR A UNITED STATES AMENDMENTS CONVENTION 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners met upon notice of a regular meeting, 
duly published, at the Sierra County Administrative Offices, 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or 
Consequences, New Mexico 87901, on July 23, 2024; and,  

WHEREAS, NMSA 1978, Section 4-37-1 (1995) provides that Counties have the power to, 
“provide for the safety, preserve the health, promote the prosperity and improve the morals, order, 
comfort and convenience of any county or its inhabitants”; and, 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Sierra exercises the powers of 
the County as a body politic and corporate pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 4-38-1(1884); and,  

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Sierra recognizes the 
importance of maintaining the principles of fiscal responsibility, limited government, and 
accountable representation at all levels of governance; and 

WHEREAS, the Board acknowledges the growing concerns among citizens regarding the fiscal 
policies, expansive powers, and extended tenures of federal officials within the United States 
government; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners believes that the United States Constitution, as 
the supreme law of the land, should adapt to meet the evolving needs and concerns of its citizens, 
as envisioned by the Framers; and 

WHEREAS, Article V of the United States Constitution provides for the amendment process, 
including the option for an Amendments Convention, when deemed necessary by two-thirds of the 
state legislatures, to propose amendments addressing issues of national significance; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners recognizes the necessity of addressing key 
areas of concern through constitutional amendments, including but not limited to: 

Page 1 of 2 



Page 2 of 2 
 

1. Imposing Fiscal Restraints on the Federal Government: To ensure responsible fiscal 
management and prevent excessive government spending that burdens future generations 
with unsustainable debt. 
 

2. Limiting the Power and Jurisdiction of the Federal Government: To preserve the 
principles of federalism and restrain the federal government from encroaching upon the 
powers reserved to the states and the people. 

 
3. Limiting the Terms of Office for Officials and Members of Congress: To promote 

accountability, prevent the entrenchment of career politicians, and encourage a more 
dynamic and responsive legislative body. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of County Commissioners of the 
County of Sierra, that: 
 

1. The Board hereby expresses its support for the convening of a United States Amendments 
Convention for the purpose of proposing amendments addressing the issues of fiscal 
restraints, limiting federal power, and imposing term limits on federal officials and 
Members of Congress. 
 

2. The Board urges the state legislators of the United States to exercise their authority under 
Article V of the United States Constitution to call for an Amendments Convention to 
address these critical matters of national importance. 
 

3. The Clerk of the Board is hereby directed to transmit copies of this resolution to the 
Governor of the State of New Mexico, the President of the United States Senate, the 
Speaker of the United States House of Representatives, and to the members of the New 
Mexico State Legislature. 

 
APPROVED, ADOPTED, AND PASSED on this 23rd day of July 2024. 

 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Travis Day, Chairman 
Commissioner District 1 

 
 
_________________________ 
James E. Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
Commissioner District 2 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Hank Hopkins 
Commissioner District 3 

ATTEST: 
 
_________________________ 
Shelly K. Trujillo 
Sierra County Clerk 

  
 


	Agenda
	June Meeting minutes
	RES 110-257 AP
	RES 110-258 IND
	Claim oF Exemption 24-005
	June Reconciliation
	CES - INTRAWORKS
	CES - ASA ARCHITECTS
	MOA NMSU/NMDA - CLLA
	AMENDED CLLA JPA Agreement
	DFA - Administration General Fund 93100 Capital Appropriation Project
	Fiscal Agent Agreement with SCOG
	Road Fund Project -CAP
	Road Fund Project -SB
	Road Fund Project- SP
	RES 110-259 Budget Transfers
	RES 110-260 4TH QR Financial Report
	RES 110-261 Final Budget
	RES 110-262 Budget Adjustments
	RES 110-263 Convention of States

